LIBRARY OF CONGRESS/WASHINGTON

CATALOGING SERVICE BULLETIN

LIBRARY SERVICES

Number 73, Summer 1996 Editor: Robert M. Hiatt

CONTENTS	Page
GENERAL	
Headings for Certain Entities	2
DESCRIPTIVE CATALOGING	
Library of Congress Rule Interpretations	7
MUSIC CATALOGING DECISIONS	40
SUBJECT CATALOGING	
Subdivision Simplification Progress	44
Changed or Cancelled Free-Floating Subdivisions	44
Subject Headings of Current Interest	45
Revised LC Subject Headings	46
Subject Headings Replaced by Name Headings	49
AC Subject Headings	49
PUBLICATIONS	
Classification Plus	50
Daily FTP for MARC Distribution Service "Books-All" File	50
New Editions of Library of Congress Classification Schedules	50

Editorial postal address: Cataloging Policy and Support Office, Library Services,

Library of Congress, Washington, D.C. 20540-4305 Editorial electronic mail address: CPSO@mail.loc.gov

Editorial fax number: (202) 707-6629

Subscription address: Customer Support Team, Cataloging Distribution Service, Library

of Congress, Washington, D.C. 20541-5212

Library of Congress Catalog Card Number: 78-51400 ISSN 0160-8029 Key title: Cataloging service bulletin

Copyright @1996 the Library of Congress, except within the U.S.A.

HEADINGS FOR CERTAIN ENTITIES

Most headings fall into clearly defined categories and are established either as personal names, corporate bodies, jurisdictions, uniform titles, named meetings, etc., in the name authority file or as topical subject headings, named objects such as names of automobiles, geographical features, etc., in the subject authority file. There are, however, certain named entities that have been problematic as to

- whether the heading should go into the name authority file (descriptive cataloging) or the subject authority file (subject cataloging); and
- how the headings should be tagged in both authority and bibliographic records.

To eliminate this confusion and to standardize the formulation and tagging of headings for such entities, the former Office for Descriptive Cataloging Policy (Desc Pol) and the Office for Subject Cataloging Policy (Subj Pol), working under the aegis of the Director for Cataloging, developed guidelines with respect to

- the responsibility for establishing the headings;
- the conventions to be used in formulating the headings;
- the tags to be used for content designation; and
- the file (name or subject authority) in which the authority records for them should reside.

In 1994, the Cooperative Cataloging Council (CCC) established the CPSO/CCC Task Group on Issues Surrounding Maintenance of Separate Name and Subject Authority Files. This task group agreed to reduce the "logical" inconsistencies between the two files so that they could be more easily used together. To this end the task group recommended and the CCC approved the deletion from the subject authority file of duplicate name headings that had been needed in the subject authority file to produce various products, such as Library of Congress Subject Headings.

In 1995 the Program for Cooperative Cataloging (PCC) (successor to the CCC) created a follow-on task group, PCC Task Group on Name Versus Subject Authorities, that considered and made recommendations on the remaining categories of headings that could be established by either descriptive or subject catalogers (cemeteries, city sections, concentration camps, and country clubs), events, and tagging conventions for certain "geographic" entities. The PCC approved the task group's recommendations, and the results are reflected in the revisions to the lists below. These lists appeared previously in Cataloging Service Bulletin, no. 53 (Summer 1991). The major changes from the previous list are

- Group 3 has been eliminated; all entities that were included in that group (cemeteries, city sections, concentration camps, and country clubs) have been moved to Group 1.
- 2) Headings for events that are formally convened, directed toward a common goal, capable of being reconvened, and have a formal name have been moved from Group 2 to Group 1.
- Certain entites formerly tagged as X51 will be tagged as X10 (airports, arboretums, botanical gardens, cemeteries, concentration camps, country clubs, herbariums, zoological gardens)

Several of the Library of Congress Rule Interpretations that follow have been revised to implement these changes.

GROUP 1—NAME AUTHORITY GROUP HEADINGS

(Named entities always established according to descriptive cataloging guidelines and always residing in the name authority file)

Abbeys 110 Academies 110 Airplanes, Named 110 Airports 110 Almshouses 110 Aquariums, Public 110 Arboretums 110 Artificial satellites 110 Asylums (Charitable institutions) 110 Athletic contests 111 Banks 110 Bars 110 Biblical characters 100 Biological stations 110 Boards of trade 110 (Chambers of commerce) 110 Botanical gardens 110	
Academies 110 Airplanes, Named 110 Airports 110 Almshouses 110 Aquariums, Public 110 Arboretums 110 Artificial satellites 110 Asylums (Charitable institutions) 110 Athletic contests 111 Banks 110 Bars 110 Biblical characters 100 Biological stations 110 Boards of trade 110 (Chambers of commerce) 110 Botanical gardens 110	
Airplanes, Named 110 Airports 110 Almshouses 110 Aquariums, Public 110 Arboretums 110 Artificial satellites 110 Asylums (Charitable institutions) 110 Athletic contests 111 Banks 110 Bars 110 Biblical characters 100 Biological stations 110 Boards of trade 110 (Chambers of commerce) 110 Botanical gardens 110	
Airports 110 Almshouses 110 Aquariums, Public 110 Arboretums 110 Artificial satellites 110 Asylums (Charitable institutions) 110 Athletic contests 111 Banks 110 Bars 110 Biblical characters 100 Biological stations 110 Boards of trade 110 (Chambers of commerce) 110 Botanical gardens 110	
Almshouses 110 Aquariums, Public 110 Arboretums 110 Artificial satellites 110 Asylums (Charitable institutions) 110 Athletic contests 111 Banks 110 Bars 110 Biblical characters 100 Biological stations 110 Boards of trade 110 (Chambers of commerce) Botanical gardens 110	
Aquariums, Public Arboretums 110 Artificial satellites 110 Asylums (Charitable institutions) 110 Athletic contests 111 Banks 110 Bars 110 Biblical characters 100 Biological stations 110 Boards of trade (Chambers of commerce) Botanical gardens 110	
Arboretums Artificial satellites Asylums (Charitable institutions) Athletic contests Banks Bars Biblical characters Biological stations Boards of trade (Chambers of commerce) Botanical gardens 110 Athletic contests 111 Banks 110 Banks 110 Biblical characters 100 Biological stations 110 Boards of trade 110 110	
Artificial satellites 110 Asylums (Charitable institutions) 110 Athletic contests 111 Banks 110 Bars 110 Biblical characters 100 Biological stations 110 Boards of trade 110 (Chambers of commerce) Botanical gardens 110	
Athletic contests Banks Bars Biblical characters Biological stations Boards of trade (Chambers of commerce) Botanical gardens 110 Athletic contests 110 Boards 110 Chambers of commerce)	
Athletic contests Banks Bars Biblical characters Biological stations Boards of trade (Chambers of commerce) Botanical gardens 110 Athletic contests 110 Boards 110 Chambers of commerce)	
Bars 110 Biblical characters 100 Biological stations 110 Boards of trade 110 (Chambers of commerce) Botanical gardens 110	
Bars 110 Biblical characters 100 Biological stations 110 Boards of trade 110 (Chambers of commerce) Botanical gardens 110	
Biological stations 110 Boards of trade 110 (Chambers of commerce) Botanical gardens 110	
(Chambers of commerce) Botanical gardens 110	
(Chambers of commerce) Botanical gardens 110	
(Chambers of commerce) Botanical gardens 110	
Botanical gardens 110	
Design the state of the state o	
Broadcasting stations 110	
Cathedrals 110	
Cathedrals 110 Cemeteries 110	
Chambers of commerce 110	
Chapels 110	
Churches (In use or ruins) 110	
City sections 151	
Collective settlements 151	
Colleges 110	
Comic strips ¹ 130	
Communes 151	
Competitions 111	
Computer programs 130	
Concentration camps 110	
Concert halls 110	
Conservation districts 151	
Contests 111	
Convents 110	
Correctional institutions 110	
Country clubs 110 Crematories 110	
Dance halls 110	
Denominations, Religious (Individual) 110	
Dispensaries 110	
2 10 0 110 110 110 110 110 110 110 110 1	
Ecclesiastical entities that are also names of places, e.g., Basel (Switzerland :	
Ecclesiastical principality) 110	
Ecological stations	
Educational institutions 110	
Embassies 110 Events ² 111	
Events ² 111	
Exhibitions 111	
Expeditions Military 111	
Expeditions, Scientific 111	
Experiment stations 110	
Expositions 111	
Expeditions, Scientific 111 Experiment stations 110 Expositions 111 Factories 110	

¹Although headings in this category are generally established under title and tagged 130, those that are established under personal or corporate names are tagged 100 or 110.

²Events that are formally convened, directed toward a common goal, capable of being reconvened, and have a formal name.

Fairs	111
Festivals and celebrations	111
resulvais and celebrations	111
Folk festivals and celebrations	111
Funeral nomes, mortuaries	110
Galleries	110
Games (Events)	111
Halfway houses	110
Herbariums	110
Herbariums Hospitals	110
	110
Jurisdictions, Ancient (other than cities)	151
	110
Libraries	110
Markets	110
Military installations	151
(Active; also all after 1899)	1176
Monasteries	110
	110
	110
Motels	110
Motion pictures Museums	130
Museums	110
Night clubs	110
Nursing homes	110
Observatories	110
Old age homes	
Opera houses	
Orphanages	110
Parades	110
Parades Park districts Planetariums Plane (Programs)	111
Park districts	151
Planetariums	110
Plans (Programs)	110
Poorhouses	110
Port authorities	110
Plans (Programs) Poorhouses Port authorities Prisons	110
Projects, plans, etc.	110
Public celebrations, pageants, anniversaries	111
Races (Contests)	111
Padio programs	120
Radio programs	130
Railroads	110
Races (Contests) Radio programs Railroads Recreation districts Religious denominations Research stations	151
Religious denominations Research stations	110
Research stations	110
Restaurants	110
Sanitariums	110
Sanitation districts	
School districts	110
Schools	
Carries stations	110
Scivice stations	110
Ships	110
Shipyards	110
Shows (Exhibitions)	111
Service stations Ships Shipyards Shows (Exhibitions) Software, Computer	130
Space vehicles	110
a	111
	110
Stores, Retail	110
Studies (Research projects)	110
Stores, Retail Studies (Research projects) Television programs Temples (in use; excludes temples in ruins)	120
Temples (in user evolutes temples in mine)	110
Thester companies	110
Theater companies	
Tournaments	111
Tribes (as legal entities only)	110
Undertakers	110
Undertakers Utility districts Universities	151
Oniversities	110
Water districts	151
Zoological gardens	110

GROUP 2—SUBJECT AUTHORITY GROUP HEADINGS

(Named entities always established according to subject cataloging guidelines and residing in either the name or subject authority file)

Category	MARC tag
Amusement parks	151
Apartment houses	110
Armories	110
Artists' groups	150
Asian conglomerate corporations	110
Auditoriums	110
Awards	150
	110
	110
Bridges	
Buildings, Private	110
Buildings occupied by corporate bodies	110
Bus terminals Camps	110
	151
Capitols	110
Castles	110
Cities, Extinct (Pre-1500) City halls Civic centers	151
City halls	110
Civic centers	110
Clans	100
Club houses	110
Coliseums	110
Collections, Public or Private	110
	151
	110
Computer languages	150
Computer networks	150
Computer systems	150 110
Courthouses	110
Customhouses	
Docks	151
Dwellings	110
Estates	151
Events ³	150
Exhibition buildings	110
Families	100
Farms	151
Feasts	150
Ferry buildings	110
Fire stations	110
Forests	151
Fortresses (Structures)	151
Gardens	151
Grain elevators	110
Gymnasiums	110
Hazardous waste sites	151
Highways	151
Historic sites	151
Immigration stations	110
Islands, Nonjurisdictional	151
Land grants	151
Lighthouses	110
Manors	110
Mansions	110
Market buildings	110
The state of the s	

³Events that generally cannot be repeated and have no formal name but are commonly referred to by generic terms only.

Military installations (Before 1900 and inactive)	151
Mine buildings	110
Mines	
	151
Mints Monuments (Structures, statues, etc.)	110 150
Monuments (Structures, statues, etc.)	
	110
	110
	110
	110
Parks	
Playgrounds	151
	151
Fonce stations	110
Pools, Public	-
	151
Post offices	110
Power plants	
Presidential mansions	110 110
Public comfort stations	110
Railway stations	110
Ranches	110 151
Recreation areas	151 151
Refugee camps	151
Reservations, Indian	151
Reserves (Parks, forests, etc.)	151
Resorts	110 151
Roads	151
Rooms	150
Sanitary landfills	151
Schools of artists	
Shopping centers	110
Shrines (not churches)	150
Shrines (not churches) Spas	110
Sport arenas	
	110
	151
Structures (Non-geographic, e.g., towers)	
	110
	110
Theater buildings	110
Theme parks	151
m 1	150
Trails	151
Tribes (Ethnic groups)	150
Tunnels	
Villas	151
7 33355	110
Waterways	151

DESCRIPTIVE CATALOGING

LIBRARY OF CONGRESS RULE INTERPRETATIONS (LCRI)

Cumulative index of LCRI to the Anglo-American Cataloguing Rules, second edition, 1988 revision, that have appeared in issues of Cataloging Service Bulletin. Any LCRI previously published but not listed below is no longer applicable and has been cancelled. Lines in the margins (|) of revised interpretations indicate where changes have occurred.

Rule	Number	Page
1.0	49	10
1.0C	50	12
1.0E	69	17
1.0F	56	11
1.0G	44	9
1.0H	44	9
1.1B1	44	9
1.1C	44	10
1.1D2	50	20
1.1E	44	10
1.1E5	25	17
1.1F1	13	4
1.1F4	14	6
1.1F6	44	11
1.1F0 1.1F7	44	11
1.1F11	34	19
1.1F15	17	6
1.1G1	48	10
1.1G2	47	11
1.1G2 1.1G3	44	11
1.2B4	38	29
1.2B5	34	19
1.2C4	34	19
1.2C5	34	20
1.2E3	34	20
1.4A2	67	14
1.4AZ	15	3
1.4C7 1.4D1	44	12
	47	11
1.4D2	11	8
1.4D3 1.4D4	47	11
	67	14
1.4D5	66	11
1.4D6 1.4D7	44	16
1.4E	12	11
	11	9
1.4E1	44	16
1.4F1	67	17
1.4F2	47	15
1.4F5	47	15
1.4F6	47	17
1.4F7	45	12
1.4F8	14	9
1.4G	45	13
1.4G4	8	9
1.5A3	33	27
1.5B4	8	9
1.5B5	8 33	27
1.5D2	33	21

Rule	Number	Page
1.5E1	50	23
1.6	53	26
1.6A2	71	12
1.6B	54	22
1.6C	54	22
1.6E1	22	16
1.60	54	23
1.6G	71	
1.6H		12
1.6H4	11	11
1.6J	32	11
1.7A1	44	16
1.7A3	46	23
1.7A4	60	14
1.7B2	56	11
1.7B4	39	11
1.7B13	64	12
1.7B20	12	15
1.7B21	38	31
1.8	69	23
1.8B2	8	9
1.002		
1.01.1	67	19
1.10	11	12
1.10C2	33	28
1.10D1	47	29
1.11A	61	3
1.11C	55	16
2.0B1	45	15
2.1C	47	30
2.10		
2.2	41	14
2.2B1	44	20
2.2B3	44	20
2.2B4	34	21
2.4D1	47	30
2.4E	47	30
2.4G2	8	9
2.5B7	52	15
2.5B8	44	21
2.5B9	44	21
2.5B10	51	29
2.5B17	17	14
2.5B19	44	21
2.5B21	44	21
2.5B21		
2.5B22	38	32
2.5B24	47	30
2.5C2	51	29
2.7B1	54	29
2.7B4	47	31
2.7B7	58	14
2.7B9	44	21
2.7B14	18	23
2.7B17	60	15
2.7B18	47	31
2.8C	67	19
2.12-2.18	54	30
3.1C	47	34
3.1G1	47	34
3.1G4	47	34

Rule	Number	Page
3.2B3 3.2B4 3.3B2 3.3C2 3.3D 3.4D1 3.4E 3.4G2 3.5B2 3.5B5 3.5D1 3.5D3 3.5D3 3.5D5 3.7B4	47 34 8 8 25 8 47 47 47 47 47 8 8 8	34 24 10 10 44 10 34 34 34 34 10 10 10 34
4.1C 4.1F2 4.2B3 4.5B2 4.5B3 4.7B4	47 47 47 47 47 47	35 35 35 35 35 35
5.1B1 5.1C 5.1F1 5.2B1 5.2B3 5.2B4 5.3 5.4D1 5.4E 5.4G2 5.5B1 5.5B2 5.5B3 5.7B1 5.7B4 5.7B19	55 47 46 33 47 34 34 8 47 47 47 52 47 55 47 52	16 35 23 32 35 25 25 10 35 35 35 16 36 17
6.1B1 6.1C 6.1F1 6.1G1 6.1G4 6.2B3 6.2B4 6.4D1 6.4E 6.4G2 6.5B1 6.5B2 6.5C8 6.7B1 6.7B4 6.7B6 6.7B10 6.7B19 6.8	44 47 11 11 47 47 47 34 8 47 47 47 47 47 13 13 13 13 14 13	25 36 15 15 36 36 26 10 36 36 36 36 31 17 36 14 14 14 17 15

Rule	Number	Page
7.1B1 7.1B2 7.1C 7.1F1 7.1G1 7.1G4 7.2B3 7.2B4 7.4C 7.4D1 7.4E 7.4F2 7.4G2 7.5B1 7.5B2 7.7B2 7.7B4 7.7B6 7.7B7 7.7B9 7.8	13 8 47 36 38 47 47 47 47 47 47 47 47 47 47	15 11 36 12 32 36 37 26 16 37 37 37 37 37 37 37 14 37 21 6 16
8.1C 8.1F1 8.2B3 8.2B4 8.4C 8.4D1 8.4E 8.4F2 8.4G2 8.5B1 8.5B2 8.5B6 8.5C1g) 8.7B4 8.7B6 8.7B7 8.7B9 8.7B18	47 36 47 34 13 47 47 47 64 33 47 47 47 22 15 13 13	37 12 37 26 17 37 37 33 38 12 40 38 38 38 21 6 16 17 15
9.1C 9.1G1 9.1G4 9.2B3 9.2B6 9.3B1 9.4D1 9.4E 9.4G2 9.5B1 9.5C2 9.5D1 9.7B4	47 47 47 44 44 47 47 47 47 64 47 64	38 38 38 25 38 39 39 13 39 13 39
10.1C 10.2B3 10.2B4 10.4D1 10.4E 10.4G2 10.4G3 10.5B1	47 47 34 47 47 32 47 47	39 39 27 39 39 15 39 40

Rule	Number	Page
10.7B4	47	40
Chapter 11 11.1C 11.1G1 11.1G4 11.2B3 11.2B4 11.4D1 11.4E 11.5B1 11.7B4	58 47 47 47 47 47 34 47 47 47	15 40 40 40 40 27 40 40 40 40
12.0 12.0A 12.0B1 12.0F 12.1B1 12.1B3 12.1B4 12.1C 12.1E1 12.2B3 12.3B1 12.3C1 12.3E 12.3G 12.4D1 12.4E 12.4G2 12.5B1 12.5B2 12.6B1 12.7B2 12.7B1 12.7B4 12.7B5 12.7B6 12.7B6 12.7B76) 12.7B76) 12.7B76) 12.7B779 12.7B78 12.7B79 12.7B78 12.7B79 12.7B79 12.7B79 12.7B79 12.7B79 12.7B79 12.7B79 12.7B79 12.7B79 12.7B79 12.7B79 12.7B79 12.7B799 12.7B79	71 50 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 71	14 29 16 18 18 19 20 42 31 21 22 23 23 35 24 42 24 22 25 26 27 27 27 27 28 28 28 28 28 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30
13.3 13.5 13.6	44 44 11	34 36 17
21.0B 21.0D 21.1A2 21.1B1 21.1B2 21.1B4 21.1C 21.2A	45 18 15 71 54 59 18 50	19 29 8 31 32 11 34 33

Rule	Number	Page
21.2C 21.3B 21.4B 21.6C1 21.7B 21.7C 21.11B 21.17B 21.18B 21.23 21.23C 21.23D 21.27 21.28A 21.28B 21.29 21.29D 21.29G 21.30E 21.30F 21.30G 21.30H 21.30J 21.30L 21.30S 21.31B 21.31C 21.35E 21.35C 21.35SB 21.35C 21.35SB 21.35C 21.35E2 21.36C1-3 21.36C5-9 21.36C8 21.39	50 50 18 44 65 65 23 45 45 45 45 47 12 45 8 60 59 28 52 71 63 57 63 45 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 41 46 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	33 34 36 37 11 12 21 27 28 37 28 18 31 46 24 32 12 16 11 16 19 33 11 16 19 33 11 48 27 28 37 28 37 28 31 31 46 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21
22.1 22.1B 22.2 22.2A 22.2B 22.3A 22.3B1 22.3C 22.3D 22.4 22.5A 22.5C2 22.5C4 22.5D 22.5D1 22.6 22.8 22.8A1 22.8A2 22.10 22.11D 22.12B 22.13B	18 44 44 43 71 64 47 40 47 41 36 22 11 23 31 45 13 71 44 64 44 18 11	49 38 41 32 53 23 52 29 53 34 20 29 24 31 28 50 29 55 46 25 46 55 25

Rule	Number		Page
22.14 22.15A 22.15B 22.16C 22.16D 22.17 22.17-22.20 22.18A 22.19 22.22 22.25B1 22.26C1c)	11 39 18 44 44 49 44 57 71 45 44		26 13 55 47 47 31 48 20 56 51 52 53
23.1 23.2 23.4B 23.4C 23.4D 23.4E 23.4F1 23.4F2	73 73 60 41 41 41 63 73		16 16 20 45 46 47 16 21
24.1 24.1B 24.2 24.2B 24.2C 24.2D 24.3A 24.3G 24.4B 24.4C 24.4C6 24.4C5 24.4C6 24.5C1 24.6 24.7 24.7B 24.7B 24.7B 24.7B 24.13, TYPE 2 24.13, TYPE 3 24.13, TYPE 5 24.13, TYPE 5 24.13, TYPE 5 24.13, TYPE 5 24.14 24.15A 24.15B 24.17 24.18 24.18, TYPE 3 24.18, TYPE 3 24.18, TYPE 3 24.18, TYPE 3 24.18, TYPE 5 24.18, TYPE 5 24.18, TYPE 6 24.18, TYPE 6 24.18, TYPE 11 24.19 24.20B 24.20B 24.21B	73 44 47 21 13 44 45 45 21 49 65 64 64 64 34 52 73 55 8 73 42 27 67 53 71 25 44 48 18 38 16 45 44 18 38 11 44	CATTORNIA CONTRACTORNIA CONTRA	23 53 54 28 34 53 54 54 28 32 21 25 26 24 24 28 19 14 30 37 30 19 36 46 46 58 63 63 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64

Rule	Number	Page
24.21C	45	59
24.21D	16	48
24.23	45	59
24.24A	45	60
24.26	44	64
24.27C	44	65
24.27C3	55	20
25.1	64	27
25.2A	64	28
25.3A	44	65
25.3B	44	65
25.5B	66	19
25.5C	44	66
25.5D	44	67
25.6A	11	49
25.6A2	46	52
25.7	49	34
25.8	63	17
25.8-25.11	46	52
25.9	60	22
25.10	61	9
25.11	60	23
25.13	65	23
25.14	59	19
25.15A1	36	34
25.15A2	11	52
25.18A	23	45
25.19	11	52
25.23	44	68
25.29A	44	68
25.30B4	64	38
25.30B5	44	70
25.30B7 25.30D	44	70
25.30D	44	70
25.32A2	33	50
25.34B-25.34C	46	54
25.34B1	64	38
25.34C2 25.35A1	44	71
25.33A1	46	54
26	64	38
26.1	47	57
26.1A	47	60
26.2	64	43
26.2B2	45	77
26.2B3	44	79
26.2B4		30
26.2C	67	20
26.2D	44	80
26.2D2	30	22
26.3	32	53
26.3A3	27	38
26.3A4	12	38
26.3A6	21 67	45
26.3A7		21
26.3B-C 26.4B	59 51	19 44
26.4C	51	49
26.4D2	44	82
26.5A	73	30
26.5B	73	40
26.6	44	82
_0.0		02

Rule	Number	Page
A.2A	16	50
A.4A1	64	46
A.4D1	64	46
A.7A	18	85
A.15A	18, 21	86, 58
A.20	44	82
A.25	49	46
A.31	17	28
A.33	48	25
A.34	17	28
A.53	26	18
A.54	26	19
B.4	13	72
B.9	32	57
B.14	51	50
C.1	44	83
C.5C	44	84
C.7	44	85
C.8B	49	46
D, "Collection"	14	56
D, "Colophon"	13	72
D, "Preliminaries"	54	45

23.1. INTRODUCTORY NOTE.

Ambiguous Entities

Treat the ambiguous entities listed below as geographic names and establish them under the general provisions of chapter 23, AACR2, tagging them as X51.

City sections
Collective settlements
Communes
Conservation districts
Jurisdictions, Ancient (other than cities)
Military installations (Active; also all established after 1899)
Park districts
Recreation districts
Sanitation districts
Utility districts
Water districts
Water districts

Military Installations

Treat military installations as local places. This means adding as a qualifier the country, state, province, etc., that would have been added to a city or town in the same place. Apply this even if the installation is located outside the country that controls it, i.e., add the heading for the larger place in which it is located in all cases. Make references from the name as a subheading of the country that controls it and as a subheading of the military branch to which it belongs. (Military installations that are treated as local places include forts, bases, camps, airfields, arsenals, and Coast Guard stations but not shipyards.)

151 bb ta March Air Force Base (Calif.)4
451 bb ta March Field (Calif.)

410 1 ‡a United States. ‡b March Air Force Base

410 1 † †a United States. †b Air Force. †b March Air Force Base

151 ÞÞ ‡a Yokosuka Naval Base (Japan)

410 1 † †a United States. †b Yokosuka Naval Base

410 1% †a United States. †b Navy. †b Yokosuka Naval

23.2. GENERAL RULES. [Rev.]

Sources

Apply the following for current place names:

- 1) For names in the United States, base the heading on the form found in the Geographic Names Information System (GNIS), U.S. Geological Survey (United States Board on Geographic Names (BGN) domestic names system). GNIS may be accessed through the World Wide Web (http://www-nmd.usgs.gov/www/gnis/gnisform.html). A recent edition of the Rand McNally Commercial Atlas and Marketing Guide may also be used when access to the World Wide Web is not available.
- 2) For names in Australia and New Zealand, base the heading on the form found on the GEOnet Names Server (GNS), Defense Mapping Agency (the BGN foreign names system). GNS may be accessed through the World Wide Web (http://164.214.2.50/gns/html/ index.html). A gazetteer published within the last two years may also be used when access to the World Wide Web is not available.

⁴MARC coding in the examples reflects the provisions of USMARC Format for Authority Data (except spaces added before and after subfield codes) and not any individual system.

- 3) For names in Canada, use the heading provided by the National Library of Canada (NLC). Accept the NLC form, even if it differs from LC policy in such matters as abbreviations, diacritics, fullness, qualifiers, etc.
- 4) For names in Great Britain, base the name on a recent edition of Bartholomew Gazetteer of Places in Great Britain.
- 5) For other names, base the heading on the form found in the work being cataloged together with a consideration of the form found on GNs (or an appropriate gazetteer if access to the World Wide Web is not available).

English or Vernacular Forms

Alma-Ata

If BGN approves both a vernacular and an English form (called a conventional name in BGN terminology), use the English form.

For the following names, use the English form listed rather than the BGN-approved form:

Amoy Anhwei Province Ashkhabad Bavaria Bosnia and Hercegovina Brittany Bruges Burgundy Canton Carinthia Chekiang Province Crete Crimea Dairen East Flanders Fukien Province Ghent Harbin Heilungkiang Province Hesse Hokkaido Honan Province Hopeh Province Hunan Province Hupeh Province Inner Mongolia Istanbul Jaffa Kalgan Kansu Province Kiangsi Province Kiangsu Province Kirin Kwangsi Chuang Autonomous Region Kwangtung Province Kweichow Province Kyoto Liaoning Province Louvain Lower Austria Lower Saxony

Ningsia Hui Autonomous Region

North Brabant

Malacca Mantua Mexico City North Holland North Rhine-Westphalia Nuremberg Osaka Padua Peking Picardy Piraeus Port Arthur Rabat Rhineland-Palatinate Saint Gall Saxony Saxony-Anhalt Seville Shanghai Shansi Province Shantung Province Shensi Province Sian Sicily Sinkiang Province Sinkiang Uighur Autonomous Region South Holland Styria Swatow Syracuse Szechwan Province Tehran [instead of Teheran] Thuringia Tibet Tientsin Tirana Tsinan Tsinghai Province Tsingtao Tsitsihar Turin Upper Austria Urumchi West Flanders Yunnan Province

Note: If a foreign name is established in an English form, use the same form if the name is used by more than one jurisdictional level or is used as part of another name, whenever the same name occurs at the beginning of the name.

Zurich

151 \$\psi\$ \diagraphe A Kyoto (Japan)⁵
151 \$\psi\$ \diagraphe A Kyoto (Japan : Prefecture)

151 \$\psi\$ \diagraphe A Kyōto-fu (Japan)

151 \$\psi\$ \diagraphe A Kyōto-fu (Japan)

151 \$\psi\$ \diagraphe A Cologne (Germany)

151 \$\psi\$ \diagraphe A Köln-Deutz (Cologne, Germany)

but 151 \$\psi\$ \diagraphe A Garching bei München (Germany)

not 151 \$\psi\$ \diagraphe A Garching bei Munich (Germany)

⁵MARC coding in the examples reflects the provisions of USMARC Format for Authority Data (except spaces added before and after subfield codes) and not any individual system.

Modifications of the Name

- 1) Initial articles. Drop initial articles from the beginning of the entry element of geographic names in Arabic, Urdu, Hebrew, and Yiddish. Retain initial articles in other non-English geographic names when retention is supported by current gazetteers in the country's language. ("Non-English" is meant to include names in French, Spanish, etc., when these are used in the United States (e.g., Los Angeles) or other English-speaking countries.) Drop all other initial articles (e.g., drop "The" from "The Dalles").
- 2) Gazetteers. If the name is based on the form found in a recently published gazetteer, generally use in the heading the form found on the item being cataloged rather than a shortened form or unabbreviated form found in a gazetteer, unless 23.5A is applicable.

in source: Montgomery County
gazetteer: Montgomery
(GNIS: Montgomery County)

heading: 151 bb +a Montgomery County (Md.)

However, for the English-language terms "Saint" or "St." and "Mount" or "Mt.," always use the spelled out form regardless of the item being cataloged or other evidence unless the name is for a place or jurisdiction within the United Kingdom or the Republic of Ireland, in which case the abbreviation "St." should be preferred to the spelled out form "Saint," or the name is for a place or jurisdiction in Canada, in which case the heading supplied by the National Library of Canada should be used. Make a reference from the form not used in the heading.

in source: St. Joseph gazetteer: Saint Joseph (GNIS: Saint Joseph)

heading: 151 bb +a Saint Joseph (Mo.)

451 bb +a St. Joseph (Mo.)

but

in source: St. Andrews

gazetteer: St. Andrews
heading: 151 ≱≱ ‡a St. Andrews (Scotland) 451 bb ‡a Saint Andrews (Scotland)

in source: St. John's NLC heading: St. John's (Nfld.) heading: 151 bb +a St. John's (Nfld.) 451 bb +a Saint John's (Nfld.)

3) U.S. Board on Geographic Names. If BGN approves a romanized form that conflicts with LC's policy for the romanization of that language, use the LC form of romanization in the heading. If the BGN response indicates both a brief and a long form of the place name, generally select the long form as the heading, unless 23.5A is applicable.

> GNS: Borno State heading: 151 bb +a Borno State (Nigeria)

GNS: Coast Province heading: 151 bb +a Coast Province (Kenya)

GNS: Sulz am Neckar heading: 151 bb +a Sulz am Neckar (Germany)

GNS: Villefranche-sur-Mer
heading: 151 bb ‡a Villefranche-sur-Mer (France)

GNS: Kora-chō heading: 151 bb +a Kora-chō (Japan)

Note that in the case of conflicts, 23.4F1 mandates a preference for long forms found in sources (including BGN "variants"), rather than adding "an appropriate smaller place" within parentheses after the conflicting name.

GNS: Münster

sources: Münster in Westfalen

heading: 151 ₩₩ ‡a Münster in Westfalen (Germany)

151 pp †a Münster (North Rhine-Westphalia,

Germany)

but GNS: Sundern

not

sources: Sundern (Sauerland)

heading: 151 bb +a Sundern (Hochsauerlandkreis,

Germany)

4) Districts of India. In order to have consistent headings for the districts of India, establish all of them with the word "District" (or its equivalent in non-English) omitted. If the resulting heading conflicts, as in the case of the city's bearing the same name, add "District" as an element of the parenthetical qualifier (24.6).

5) U.S. Townships. For U.S. townships (called "towns" in some states) that encompass one or more local communities and the surrounding territory, do not include the term "township" or "town" as part of the name. Instead, add the term after the name of the

151 bb ‡a Kintire (Minn. : Township)
(GNIS: Kintire, Township of)

151 ÞÞ ‡a Milo (Me. : Town)
(GNIS: Milo, Town of)

These non-local jurisdictions are called "townships" in Arkansas, California, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, New Jersey, North Carolina North Dakota, Ohio, Pennsylvania, and South Dakota; they are called "towns" in Connecticut, Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New York, Rhode Island, Vermont, and Wisconsin. If there is more than one township with the same name in the same state, apply LCRI 23.4F1.)

Note: For the period 1980-1990, the term "Township" or "Town" was added only if the name conflicted. Change existing headings for U.S. townships lacking the term "Township" or "Town" when the headings are needed for post-1990 cataloging.

Special Decisions

- 1) China. For all the governments that have controlled the mainland of China, use "China" for all periods except 1931-1945. For the government headquartered in Nanking, 1931-1937, and in Chungking, 1937-1945, use "China." For the government headquartered in Jui-chin, 1931-1937, use "China (Soviet Republic, 1931-1937)." For the government headquartered in Peking, 1937-1940, use "China (Provisional government, 1937-1940)." For the governments headquartered in Nanking, 1938-1945, use "China (Reformed government, 1938-1940)" for 1938-1940, and use "China (National government, 1940-1945)" for 1940-1945. For the post-1948 government on Taiwan, use "China (Republic: 1949-)." For the province of Taiwan, use "Taiwan."
- Germany. For the Federal Republic of Germany, use "Germany (West)" for 1949-1990 and "Germany" after 1990. For the German Democratic Republic, use "Germany (East)."
 - 3) Great Britain. For the United Kingdom, use "Great Britain."
- 4) Korea. For Korea until September 1945, including the Japanese occupation (1910-1945), use "Korea." For Nam Chosŏn Kwado Chŏngbu (South Korean Interim Government, 1947-1948), the American occupation government (1945-1948), and the republic of Korea, use "Korea (South)." For the Soviet occupation government (1945-1948) and the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, use "Korea (North)."
 - 5) London. In dealing with London, use the following headings:
- a) Use "Corporation of London (England)" for items from the 677-acre entity also called the City of London.

- b) Use "Greater London Council" for items from the former entity bearing this name that had administrative control over the 32 London boroughs that made up "Greater London" (excluding the City of London). (The entity ceased April 1, 1986.)
- c) Use "London (England)" as the qualifier added to corporate headings for a body located in the City of London or in an inner borough. Use "London (England)" also as the qualifier added to a corporate heading for a body located in an outer borough when the body is commonly associated with London rather than with the name of the particular outer borough. Otherwise, use the heading for the particular outer borough. (The inner London boroughs are Camden, Greenwich, Hackney, Hammersmith and Fulham, Islington, Kensington and Chelsea, Lambeth, Lewisham, Southwark, Tower Hamlets, Wandsworth, and the City of Westminster.)
- 6) Soviet Union. For the former Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, use "Soviet Union."

For the republics that constituted the Soviet Union, use the following headings:

Before 1992

After 1991

Armenian S.S.R. Azerbaijan S.S.R. Byelorussian S.S.R. Estonia Georgian S.S.R. Kazakh S.S.R. Kirghiz S.S.R. Latvia Lithuania Moldova (Before 1990: Moldavian S.S.R.) Russian S.F.S.R. Tajik S.S.R. Turkmen S.S.R. Ukraine Uzbek S.S.R.

Armenia (Republic) Azerbaijan Belarus Estonia Georgia (Republic) Kazakstan Kyrgyzstan Latvia Lithuania

Moldova Russia (Federation) Tajikistan Turkmenistan Ukraine Uzbekistan

7) Washington, D.C. For Washington, D.C., use "District of Columbia" as the heading for the government of this name. Use "Washington (D.C.)" only as a location qualifier or as the entry element for cross references from place.

23.4F2. IDENTIFYING PLACES.

Places on Islands

 Places on islands in Australia, Canada, Malaysia, United States, Yugoslavia, or the British Isles. For places on islands covered by 23.4C or 23.4D, add the qualifier called for by 23.4C2 or 23.4D2.

151 bb +a Avalon (Calif.)6

151 pp ‡a Beaumaris (Wales)

2) Places on other islands. For places on islands not covered by 23.4C or 23.4D, add the established form for the name of the island or island group if the heading for the island does not contain the name of the country as qualifier. (Headings for islands or island groups that are jurisdictions (cf. LCRI 23.4B) reside in the name authority file; headings for those that are not jurisdictions reside in the subject authority file.) If, however, the heading for the island is qualified by the name of the country, add only the name of the country to the place on the island.

⁶MARC coding in the examples reflects the provisions of USMARC Format for Authority Data (except spaces added before and after subfield codes) and not any individual system.

```
151 bb +a Naujat (Greenland)
not 151 bb ‡a Naujat (Denmark)
         151 bb +a Funchal (Madeira Islands)
         151 bb +a Funchal (Portugal)
         151 bb +a Grand Fond (Réunion)
         151 bb +a Grand Fond (France)
   not
   hut
         151 bb +a Hērakleion (Greece)
         151 bb ‡a Hērakleion (Crete, Greece)
   not
         151 bb +a Marsala (Italy)
   not
         151 bb ‡a Marsala (Sicily, Italy)
         151 bb +a Longyearbyen (Norway)
         151 bb +a Longyearbyen (Svalbard, Norway)
   not
```

City Sections

Before August 1996, city sections were established either as name or subject headings. After July 1996, establish all city sections, including city districts and neighborhoods, as name headings. (Headings for features in cities (e.g., plazas, circles, squares, monuments, and streets) will continue as subject headings.)

For city sections, add the established form for the name of the city. (Use the heading reflecting its current status for the entire period of the city section's existence (including any earlier independent existence it may have had), provided the name remains constant.) Make a reference from the name of the city section as a subheading of the name of the city.

If the city section once had an independent existence but changed its name when it was absorbed into the larger place, establish a heading for each name.

151 \$\$ ‡a Endersbach (Germany)

If the city section is within another city section, add the name of the city, not the name of the section.

```
151 $$ \dip \dip \text{a Wahn (Cologne, Germany)} \\
410 1$ \dip \dip \dip \text{Cologne (Germany). \dip Wahn} \\
not 151 $$ \dip \dip \dip \dip \text{Wahn (Porz, Cologne, Germany)} \end{array}
```

LC practice: Convert headings for city sections existing in the subject authority file to name headings as needed. In converting subject authority records to name authority

records, copy the subject authority record into the name authority file. Add the control number of the subject authority record as a 010±z; evaluate existing references (revise⁷ or delete), add additional references as appropriate, delete any 550 fields⁸ (used on subject authority records for historic districts); retain any 670 field(s) as is (including "Work cat." preceding the citation) or add a 670 field (LC database citation), if none already present; and change FFD 8 to value n, code FFD 12 as appropriate, and add the cataloger's code in FFD 25. Submit a proposal to delete the record from the subject authority file to the Subject Headings Editorial Team, Cataloging Policy and Support Office in accordance with procedures in Subject Cataloging Manual: Subject Headings H193, section 11, and H193.5. (NACO libraries: Submit the proposal to Cooperative Cataloging Team, Regional and Cooperative Cataloging Division.)

24.1. GENERAL RULE. [Rev.]

Ambiguous Entities

Treat the ambiguous entities listed below as general corporate bodies and establish them under the provisions of chapter 24, AACR2, tagging them as X10.

Airplanes, Named Airports Almshouses Aquariums, Public Arboretums Artificial satellites Biological stations Boards of trade (Chambers of commerce) Botanical gardens Cemeteries Chambers of commerce Concentration camps Concert halls Country clubs Crematories Dance halls Ecological stations Factories Funeral homes, mortuaries Halfway houses Herbariums Hotels Markets Morgues Motels Night clubs Nursing homes Old age homes Opera houses Orphanages Planetariums Plans (Programs) Poorhouses Port authorities Projects Railroads Research stations

 $^{^{7}}$ If a reference that is retained in the record contains value e in $\pm w$, position 3, change value e to value n.

⁸Note that the order of fields when copying a subject authority record differs from the traditional order of fields for name authority records. Do not reorder the fields.

Restaurants
Sanitariums
School districts
Service stations
Ships
Shipyards
Space vehicles
Stores, Retail
Studies (Research projects)
Tribes (as legal entities only)
Undertakers
Zoological gardens

Punctuation

Add a comma to a series of words appearing in an English-language name except before an ampersand. Exceptions:

1) For British headings, follow the punctuation in the publication, which normally will not include a comma before the conjunction in the series of words, e.g.,

110 1 † †a Great Britain. †b Ministry of Agriculture,
Fisheries and Food

not 110 1 † †a Great Britain. †b Ministry of Agriculture,
Fisheries, and Food

For Canadian headings, follow the punctuation provided by the National Library of Canada.

Note: Headings originally established before January 1981 that are in accord with current policy except for punctuating words in series were coded "AACR2" before September 1982. Continue to use the existing form of the established heading in post-August 1982 cataloging. (Headings other than those from the National Library of Canada or British or Irish headings coded after August 1982 will be in accord with AACR2 and current LC policy.)

If the form of name selected as the heading includes quotation marks around an element or elements of the name, retain them (cf. example in rule 24.7B4). Use American-style double quotation marks in the heading, instead of other forms of quotation marks.

If the form of name selected as the heading consists of or contains initials, regularize the spacing and put one space after an initial that is followed by a word or other element that is not an initial and no space after an initial that is followed by another initial consisting of one letter.

source: F&H Denby heading: 110 25 ‡a F & H Denby

source: U. S. D. A. Symposium ... heading: 111 2½ ‡a U.S.D.A. Symposium ...

source: B B C Symphony ...
heading: 110 2½ ‡a BBC Symphony ...

Precede or follow initials consisting of two or more letters with a space, e.g., "Gauley Bridge (W. Va.)," "Ph. D. Associates."

If the form of name selected as the heading includes a place name at the end and the place is enclosed within parentheses or is preceded by a comma-space, retain in the heading the punctuation as found.

⁹MARC coding in the examples reflects the provisions of *USMARC Format for Authority Data* (except spaces added before and after subfield codes) and not any individual system.

If the form of name selected as the heading includes a Greek letter or a letter or symbol used to indicate a trademark, a patent, copyright, etc., follow the guidelines in LCRI 1.0E.

If the form of name selected as the heading includes an abbreviation, retain in the heading the abbreviation as found.

source: Dirección de la Energía//Div. Estadística//Secc.
Información
heading: 110 1½ ‡a Buenos Aires (Argentina:
Province). ‡b Dirección de la
Energía. ‡b Div. Estadística. ‡b
Secc. Información

When the name of a body consists of both a numerical or alphabetical designation and words indicating the body's function, include both in the heading for the body. Separate the two parts with a dash (two hyphens).

source: Abteilung V - Vermessungswesen heading: 110 2½ ‡a [Parent body]. ‡b Abteilung V—
Vermessungswesen

source: Social and Economic Sciences (Section K)
heading: 110 2½ ‡a [Parent body]. ‡b Social and
Economic Sciences—Section K

If the form of name selected as the heading includes a dash or a hyphen that sets off a data element (usually a place name), regularize the punctuation by using a dash (two hyphens) without spacing on either side.

source: University of Nebraska—Lincoln
heading: 110 2 pm +a University of Nebraska—Lincoln

source: Centro abruzzese di ricerche storiche - Teramo heading: 110 2½ ‡a Centro abruzzese di ricerche storiche—Teramo

Canadian Headings

If the National Library of Canada (NLC) form differs from LC/AACR2 form for capitalization, diacritics, or punctuation, follow NLC.

If a corporate name in French includes the diphthong œ, which appears in the NLC form as separate letters, use the NLC form in the heading.

Although NLC practice is to establish all corporate names in both English and French, LC practice is to use English whenever possible. *Exception*: Generally establish Québec corporate names in French.

If the NLC French-language heading is used and that heading has a qualifying term in French, change the term to the English term used in the NLC English-language equivalent heading.

NLC: CHAU-TV (Station de télévision : Carleton, Québec)

NLC equivalent: CHAU-TV (Television station : Carleton,

Quebec)

heading: 110 2½ ‡a CHAU-TV (Television station : Carleton, Québec)

If an NLC corporate heading contains a geographic qualifier, use the LC-established form of the geographic name as the qualifier.

"AACR2 Compatible" Headings

- 1) General. All headings newly coded after August 1982 will be in accord with AACR2 and current policy and will be designated "AACR2" (with two exceptions). A heading already coded "AACR2 compatible" will continue to be used in its existing form in post-August 1982 cataloging. The two situations in which a newly coded heading will be coded "AACR2 compatible" are
- a) The heading is for a body that is entered subordinately to another body whose heading has already been coded "AACR2 compatible."
- b) The heading is for a uniform title entered under a name heading that has already been coded "AACR2 compatible."

Before September 1982, headings were coded "AACR2 compatible" if they had been established before 1981 and fell into one or more of the categories listed below. Also coded "AACR2 compatible" were headings established after 1980 for bodies that were entered subordinately to bodies whose headings had already been coded "AACR2 compatible" and headings for uniform titles entered under name headings that had already been coded "AACR2 compatible."

- Categories coded "AACR2 compatible." The categories of headings that were coded "AACR2 compatible" were as follows:
- a) Quotation marks. The existing heading lacked quotation marks even though the body's predominant usage showed quotation marks around one or more elements.

b) Acronyms. The existing heading contained an acronym in lower-cased letters after an initial capital letter even though the body's predominant usage showed the acronym all in capital letters.

compatible heading: 110 2½ ‡a Amacom (AACR2 form: AMACOM (Organization))

Note: If the body was famous, the heading was re-established in its AACR2 form.

- c) Terms of incorporation
- (1) The existing heading contained a term of incorporation that did not agree with AACR2 capitalization.

compatible heading: 110 2\$\(\psi\) \(\psi\) a Art Nouveau, inc. (AACR2 form: Art Nouveau, Inc.)

(2) The existing heading contained a term of incorporation that would not be retained under AACR2.

compatible heading: 110 2\$ \$\dagger\$ a Press Association, ltd. (AACR2 form: Press Association)

compatible heading: 110 2½ ‡a Schweizerisches Ost-Institut, A.G. (AACR2 form: Schweizerisches Ost-Institut)

(3) The existing heading lacked a term of incorporation that would be included under AACR2. compatible heading: 110 2½ ‡a Daumier Prints (AACR2 form: Daumier Prints Inc.)

d) Hierarchy. The existing heading for a Chinese, Japanese, or Korean corporate body contained more hierarchy than AACR2 would permit.

compatible heading: 110 1½ ‡a Japan. ‡b Hōmushō. ‡b

Keijikyoku

(AACR2 form: Japan. Keijikyoku)

Airports

Before August 1996, airports were established as geographic names under the provisions of chapter 23 AACR2, tagged X51. After July 1996, establish airports under the provisions of chapter 24, AACR2, tagged X10. If the name of the airport does not include the name of the place it serves, add the appropriate local place name qualifier. Do not make a reference through the local place in which the airport is located.

LC practice: Headings for airports existing in the name authority and bibliographic databases will be revised as a project by the Cataloging Policy and Support Office (CPSO), but revise existing headings needed in current cataloging as encountered.

110 2 p +a Dallas-Fort Worth International Airport

110 25 ‡a Heathrow Airport (London, England)

110 2½ ‡a Shin Tōkyō Kokusai Kūkō

110 25 ‡a Davis Airport (Luzerne County, Pa.)

110 25 ‡a Davis Airport (Montgomery County, Md.)

Cemeteries

Before August 1996 cemeteries were established either as name or subject headings, tagged X51. After July 1996 establish all cemeteries as name headings, tagged X10.

LC practice: Headings for cemeteries existing in the subject authority file will be converted to name headings as a project by CPSO. CPSO will also revise existing name authority and bibliographic records as a project, but revise existing headings needed in current cataloging as encountered.

Establish cemeteries according to the provisions of chapter 24, AACR2. Qualify the name of the cemetery with the name of the local geographic place in which it is located, i.e., city, county, etc., even if the cemetery is national, state, provincial, etc., in character. (Revise existing headings that do not reflect this policy when such headings are needed in current cataloging.) Do not make a reference through the place in which the cemetery is located.

110 2½ ‡a National Memorial Cemetery of the Pacific (Honolulu, Hawaii)

110 2½ †a Cimetière de Champeaux (Montmorency, France)

110 2½ ‡a McMillan Cemetery (Marshall County, Okla.)

110 2½ †a Cmentarz Ewangelicko-Augsburski w Warszawie (Warsaw, Poland)

110 2½ ‡a Necrópolis Cristóbal Colón (Havana, Cuba)

Concentration Camps

Before August 1996, concentration camps were established either as name or subject headings, tagged X51. After July 1996, establish all concentration camps as name headings, tagged X10.

Establish concentration camps according to the provisions of chapter 24, AACR2. (Revise existing headings and associated bibliographic records that do not reflect this policy when such headings are needed in current cataloging. Do not retain the post-1980, pre-August 1996 heading as a reference, unless it is a valid AACR2 reference.) Do not make a reference through the local place in which the concentration camp is located.

LC practice: Convert headings for concentration camps existing in the subject authority file to name headings as needed. In converting subject authority records to name authority records, copy the subject authority record into the name authority file. Add the control number of the subject authority record as a 010±z; revise the form of heading and the tagging; evaluate existing references (revise or delete), add additional references as appropriate, delete any 550 fields¹0; retain any 670 field(s) as is (including "Work cat." preceding the citation), add a 670 field that justifies the heading chosen (item being cataloged or LC database citation); and change FFD 8 to value n, code FFD 12 as appropriate, and add the cataloger's code in FFD 25. Submit a proposal to delete the record from the subject authority file to the Subject Headings Editorial Team, Cataloging Policy and Support Office in accordance with procedures in Subject Cataloging Manual: Subject Headings H193, section 11, and H193.5. (NACO libraries: Submit the proposal to Cooperative Cataloging Team, Regional and Cooperative Cataloging Division.)

110 2½ ‡a Konzentrationslager Auschwitz
410 2½ ‡a KL Auschwitz
410 2½ ‡a Auschwitz (Concentration camp)

110 2½ ‡a Konsentrasiekamp te Bethulie
410 2½ ‡a Bethulie (Concentration camp)

110 2½ ‡a Nēsos Gyaros 410 2½ ‡a Gioura (Concentration camp)

Plans, Programs, and Projects

Treat plans, programs, and projects as corporate bodies whether or not they have a staff. Do not consider that headings for entities with these words in their names need the addition of a qualifier that conveys the idea of a corporate body (cf. 24.4B).

24.7. CONFERENCES, CONGRESSES, MEETINGS, ETC. [New]

Ambiguous Entities

Treat the ambiguous entities listed below under the general principles for conference names, and establish them under the provisions of 24.7, AACR2, tagging them as X11.

Athletic contests
Competitions
Contests
Expeditions, Military
Expeditions, Scientific
Games (Events)
Parades
Public celebrations, pageants, anniversaries
Races (Contests)
Sporting events
Tournaments

Events11

Before August 1996, events were established either as name or subject headings, tagged X11 or X50 respectively. After July 1996, establish all events¹¹ as name headings, tagged X11. Although AACR2 does not provide specifically for these types of headings, follow the general principles of 24.7, AACR2. Do not retain the pre-August 1996 heading as a reference, unless it is a valid AACR2 reference. Note that a qualifier of the type

¹⁰Note that the order of fields when copying a subject authority record differs from the traditional order of fields for name authority records. Do not reorder the fields.

¹¹Defined here as an activity that is formally convened, directed toward a common goal, capable of being reconvened, and has a formal name, location, date, and duration that can be determined in advance of the date.

specified by 24.4B may be necessary when the name does not convey the idea of an event, e.g., Rose Bowl (Football game), but Miss America Pageant.

LC practice: Convert headings for events existing in the subject authority file to name headings as needed. In converting subject authority records to name authority records, copy the subject authority record into the name authority file. Add the control number of the subject authority record as a $010 \pm z$; revise the form of heading and the tagging; delete any 053 field; evaluate existing references (revise or delete), add additional references as appropriate, delete any 550 fields¹²; retain any 670 field(s) as is (including "Work cat." preceding the citation), add a 670 field that justifies the heading chosen (item being cataloged or LC database citation); and change FFD 8 to value n, code FFD 12 as appropriate, and add the cataloger's code in FFD 25. Submit a proposal to delete the record from the subject authority file to the Subject Headings Editorial Team, Cataloging Policy and Support Office in accordance with procedures in Subject Cataloging Manual: Subject Headings H193, section 11, and H193.5. (MACO libraries: Submit the proposal to Cooperative Cataloging Team, Regional and Cooperative Cataloging Division.)

111 25 ‡a Rose Bowl (Football game)13

```
411 25 ‡a Rose Bowl Game
111 2 | +a Tournament of Roses
411 25 ‡a Rose Bowl Parade
411 21 †a Rose Parade
411 25 ‡a Tournament of Roses Parade
411 25 ‡a Pasadena Tournament of Roses
111 2½ ‡a Miss America Pageant
411 25 ta Coupe de monde (Soccer)
411 21 ‡a Copa del Mundo de Fútbol
411 2½ ‡a Fussballweltmeisterschaft
111 2 | †a Tour de France (Race)
111 25 ‡a International Henryk Wieniawaki Violin
          Competition
411 2b ‡a Henryk Wieniawaki Violin
          Competition, International
411 25 ‡a Międzynarodowy Konkurs Skrzypcowy imienia
         Henryka Wieniawskiego
111 21 ‡a World Jamboree of Boy Scouts
411 2 | +a Jamboree of Boy Scouts, World
111 25 ‡a Iditarod (Race)
```

411 2 ‡ ‡ a Iditarod Sled Dog Race 411 2 ‡ ‡ a Iditarod Trail (Race)

411 25 †a Daytona Five Hundred (Race)

411 21 †a Daytona International Speedway Race

111 25 ‡a Daytona 500 (Race)

¹²Note that the order of fields when copying a subject authority record differs from the traditional order of fields for name authority records. Do not reorder the fields.

¹³MARC coding in the examples reflects the provisions of USMARC Format for Authority Data (except spaces added before and after subfield codes) and not any individual system.

24.8. EXHIBITIONS, FAIRS, FESTIVALS, ETC. [New]

Ambiguous Entities

Treat the ambiguous entities listed below under the provisions of 24.7, AACR2, tagging them as X11.

Festivals and celebrations
Folk festivals and celebrations

Events14

Before August 1996, some fairs, festivals, etc., were established either as name or subject headings, tagged X11 or X50 respectively. After July 1996, establish all such events as name headings, tagged X11. Do not retain the pre-August 1996 heading as a reference, unless it is a valid AACR2 reference. Note that a qualifier of the type specified by 24.4B may be necessary when the name does not convey the idea of a fair, festival, etc.

LC practice: Convert headings for fairs, festivals, etc., existing in the subject authority file to name headings as needed. In converting subject authority records to name authority records, copy the subject authority record into the name authority file. Add the control number of the subject authority record as a 010±z; revise the form of heading and the tagging; delete any 053 field; evaluate existing references (revise or delete), add additional references as appropriate, delete any 550 fields¹⁵; retain any 670 field(s) as is (including "Work cat." preceding the citation), add a 670 field that justifies the heading chosen (item being cataloged or LC database citation); and change FFD 8 to value n, code FFD 12 as appropriate, and add the cataloger's code in FFD 25. Submit a proposal to delete the record from the subject authority file to the Subject Headings Editorial Team, Cataloging Policy and Support Office. (NACO libraries: Submit the proposal to Cooperative Cataloging Team, Regional and Cooperative Cataloging Division.)

111 2 # †a National Folk Media Festival †d (1988 : †c Nairobi, Kenya) 16

111 2p +a International Folk Festival (Duluth, Minn.)

111 25 ‡a Fiesta San Antonio

111 2% ‡a Athens Black-eyed Pea Jamboree

26.5A. REFERENCES TO ADDED ENTRIES FOR SERIES AND SERIALS. SERIES. [New]

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

General Guidelines for See References

¹⁴Defined here as an activity that is formally convened, directed toward a common goal, capable of being reconvened, and has a formal name, location, date, and duration that can be determined in advance of the date.

¹⁵Note that the order of fields when copying a subject authority record differs from the traditional order of fields for name authority records. Do not reorder the fields.

¹⁶MARC coding in the examples reflects the provisions of USMARC Format for Authority Data (except spaces added before and after subfield codes) and not any individual system.

Types of See References

- 1) Alternative forms not selected as series heading
 - Heading is uniform title a)
 - Name/title proper reference
 - (2) Title proper reference
 - b) Heading is name/title proper
 - Title proper reference
 - (2) Name/title proper reference for another person/body
 - Heading is name/uniform title c)
 - Title proper reference
 - (2)Name/title proper reference
 - Name/title proper reference for another person/body
- 2) Variants of title proper in another source in same/another issue
 - Parallel titles
 - b) Other titles
- Partial titles 3)
 - Typographical prominence
 - Subseries or section title b)
 - Generic noun c)
 - d) Person's forename, initial, or title
- 4) Variations in title proper that are not title changes
- 5) Fluctuating titles
 - Different languages
 - b) Flip-flops
- Unnumbered series in French, Italian, Portuguese, Spanish, and Slavic languages
 - Other situations 7)
 - Substitutions
 - Other title information b)
 - Title of series/serial c)
 - d) Numbered multipart item
 - e) Romanization/word division
 - f) Change in non-corporate body parenthetical qualifier
 - Pre-AACR 2 form of name
 - g) h) Miscellaneous

General Guidelines for See Also References

See Also References by Category of Series Authority Record

- Monographic series and other serials
- 2) Multipart items
- 3) Series-like phrases

Introduction

This LCRI represents LC/NACO practice.

Although rule 26.5A addresses only see references for traced series, this LCRI contains guidelines for see and see also references on series authority records for all categories represented by such authority records (monographic series, other serials, multipart items, series-like phrases) regardless of local treatment decisions concerning analysis, classification, and tracing practices. Unless a specific category is mentioned, the word "series" in this LCRI applies to all four categories.

N.B.: Full reference structure is not given for each example.

If an added entry is needed for a series in a bibliographic record, or if the heading for a series is needed as part of a heading/reference in a name/series authority record, use the heading on the series' own AACR2 bibliographic record or authority record.

General Guidelines for See References

In title references (subfield $\pm a$, subfield $\pm n$, and subfield $\pm p$) and title portions of name/title references, omit an initial article unless it is to be filed on.

Add a qualifier to a reference if it conflicts with the title proper of another publication according to the guidelines in LCRI 25.5B.

Add the qualifier "(Series)" (cf. LCRI 25.5B) to a reference if it is the same as the name, an initialism/acronym, or part of the name of a corporate body.

Do not break a conflict between see references.

When using an existing series authority record, add any appropriate references not already in the record. Do *not* delete references made according to earlier policies.

Types of See References

- 1) Alternative forms not selected as series heading
 - a) Heading is uniform title
- (1) Give a name/title proper reference for the situations listed below. If the heading includes a parenthetical qualifier, do *not* include that qualifier when recording the title proper in the reference.
- (a) when a body responsible for the series is a noncommercial one or is a commercial one whose responsibility extends beyond that of merely publishing the series; in this context, consider university presses as "commercial;"
 - 130 bb ta Environmental sciences and application17
 - 410 2 † †a United Nations Institute for Training and Research. †t Environmental sciences and application
 - 130 bb ta Langues à l'INALCO
 - 410 2 † a Insitut national des langues et civilisations orientales. ‡t Langues à l'INALCO
 - 130 bb ‡a Studies in education (London, England)
 - 410 2% †a University of London. †b Institute of Education. †t Studies in education
 - 130 pp ‡a Occasional paper (Mendocino Academy of Science)
 - 410 2 ‡ ‡a Mendocino Academy of Science. ‡t Occasional paper

¹⁷MARC coding in the examples reflects the provisions of USMARC Format for Authority Data (except spaces added before and after subfield codes) and not any individual system.

(b) when the name, an initialism/acronym, or part of the name of a corporate body is in the series title even if that body is not responsible for the series; however, do not make the reference if the body is a commercial publisher responsible only for publishing the series;

130 bb ‡a Harvard historical monographs

410 2 # +a Harvard University. +t Harvard historical monographs

(c) when the title of a *numbered* series consists solely of a form of a corporate body's name whether or not that form of name is identical with the name of the corporate body given as the heading on the body's name authority record.

130 № ‡a Suffolk Records Society (Series)
410 2 ‡a Suffolk Records Society. ‡t Suffolk Records
Society

130 bb ta HAZ (Series)

410 25 +a Historical Association of Zambia. +t HAZ

130 粉 ‡a Institut sotsialististicheskogo prava (Series)

410 2½ †a Institute on Socialist Law. †t Institut sotsialististicheskogo prava

130 bb †a University of Warsaw, Institute of Psychology (Series)

410 2% ‡a Uniwersytet Warszawski. ‡b Instytut
Psychologii. ‡t University of Warsaw,
Institute of Psychology

(2) Give a reference from title proper when it differs from the uniform title except when the difference is the addition of a language name or a parenthetical qualifier.

130 bb †a EDI policy seminar report. †1 Spanish
430 bb †a Informe de un seminario de política del IDE

130 bb †a Information (Zurich, Switzerland). †1
French
(reference not given from title proper in
English: Information)

b) Heading is name/title proper

(1) Give a reference from title proper.

110 2% ‡a Library of Congress. ‡b Manuscript
Division. ‡t Registers of papers in the
Manuscript Division of the Library of
Congress

430 bb ta Registers of papers in the Manuscript
Division of the Library of Congress

100 1 † a Breuil, Henri, †d 1877-1961. †t Rock paintings of southern Africa
430 * † a Rock paintings of southern Africa

(2) Give a reference from name/title proper for another person or

corporate body sharing responsibility for the series. (Generally, do not give a reference from a body when the heading is under a personal name.)

100 1½ †a Brenner, Barbara. †t Hide and seek science 400 1½ †a Chardiet, Bernice. †t Hide and seek science

c) Heading is name/uniform title

(1) Give a reference from title proper.

430 bb †a Selected works of Henry James, Sr. ‡f 1983

100 1 p +a Sterne, Laurence, +d 1713-1768. +t Works. +f 1978

430 № ‡a Florida edition of the works of Laurence Sterne. ‡f 1978

(2) Give a reference from name/title proper when the title proper differs from the uniform title except when the difference is the addition of a language name, a date, or a parenthetical qualifier.

430 pp †a Selected works of Henry James, Sr. †f 1983 400 lp †a James, Henry, †d 1811-1882. †t Selected works of Henry James, Sr. †f 1983

> 100 1 † +a Sterne, Laurence, +d 1713-1768. +t Works. +f 1978

430 pp †a Florida edition of the works of Laurence Sterne. †f 1978

400 1 ‡ a Sterne, Laurence, ‡d 1713-1768. ‡t Florida edition of the works of Laurence Sterne. ‡f 1978

(3) Give a reference from name/title proper for another person or corporate body sharing responsibility for the series. (Generally, do not give a reference from a body when the heading is under a personal name.)

> 100 1 † †a Landau, L. D. †q (Lev Davidovich), †d 1908-1968. †t_Teoreticheskaia fizika

> 400 lb +a Lifshits, E. M. +q (Evgenii Mikhailovich) +t Teoreticheskaia fizika

2) Variants of title proper in another source in same/another issue

Give a reference from a variant title found in the same item or found in another item with the same series title proper. Construct the reference in the same form, title or name/title, that would be used as the heading; generally, do not give references that are variations of these references.

a) Parallel titles. Give references for all parallel titles. If the heading is a main series and subseries, use the same language, when present, for all parts of the parallel main series/parallel subseries reference(s).

130 🎾 ‡a Befolkningsstatistik og sociologisk statistik

430 bb +a Bevölkerungs- und Sozialstatistik

430 pp ‡a Demographic and social statistics

430 bb †a Statistiques démographiques et sociales

430 🎉 ‡a Statistiche demografiche e sociali

430 pp †a Sociale en bevolkingsstatistiek

- 130 pp +a Europäische Hochschulschriften. +n Reihe XXV, +p Forst- und Holzwirtschaft
- 430 bb +a Publications universitaires européennes. +n Série XXV, +p Sciences forestières
- 430 bb †a European university studies. †n Series XXV, †p
 Forestry and forest products
- b) Other titles. If important for access to the heading, give a reference from another form of the series title proper found on another source (e.g., on cover, on spine, on map panel, on label) of the same item or on another source of another item having the same series title proper.
 - 130 bb +a Composers series (Contemporary Records (Firm))
 430 bb +a Contemporary composers series
 (Composers series was form on label; Contemporary composers series was
 form on container for same item)
 - 130 對 ‡a Mathematical chemistry
 430 對 ‡a Mathematical chemistry series
 (Mathematical chemistry was form on ser. t.p.; Mathematical chemistry
 series was form on cover)
 - 130 bb ta Historical geography research series
 430 bb ta Research paper series (Institute of British
 Geographers. Historical Geography Research Group)
 (Later issue with same series title proper on t.p. had cover p. 3 title:
 Research paper series)

3) Partial titles

Construct the reference in the form, title or name/title, that would be used as the heading; generally, do not give references that are variations of these references.

- a) Typographical prominence. Give a reference when part of the series title is given typographical prominence.
 - 130 bb ta Springer proceedings in physics
 - 430 bb †a Proceedings in physics

 (On source "Springer" appears on one line and "proceedings in physics"

 on another line; other sources in item indicate title begins with "Springer")
- b) Subseries or section title. Give a reference from the subseries or section title unless that title is dependent on the main/common title or is misleading without that title. Do not include a preceding designation in the reference.
 - 130 pp †a Petite bibliothèque. †n Série C, †p Science récréative
 - 430 pp †a Science récréative
 - 130 >> †a Soviet scientific reviews supplement series. †p
 Physiology and general biology
 - 430 pp ta Physiology and general biology
 - 130 pp †a Contributions in political science. †p Soviet and American studies on the Third World
 - 430 bb +a Soviet and American studies on the Third World
- c) Generic noun. Give a reference from the series title or subseries/section title omitting the introductory generic noun (e.g., Serie, Collection, Schriftenreihe) when that noun is followed by a noun or noun phrase. If the partial title reference would consist only of a proper name, add the qualifier "(Series)" to that reference.
 - 130 pp †a Schriftenreihe Christliche Perspektiven im Sport 430 pp †a Christliche Perspektiven im Sport

430 bb +a Documentos (Universidad Nacional del Litoral)

130 pp †a Coleção "Paulo Freire" 430 pp †a Paulo Freire (Series)

d) Person's forename, initial, or title. When the series title begins with a person's forename(s), initial(s), or title, give a reference

from the surname and the remainder of the title; from the forename(s) and/or initial(s) and surname and remainder of

130 pp +a Dr. Leonard P. Schultz ichthyological reprint

430 № ‡a Schultz ichthyological reprint

430 pp +a Leonard P. Schultz ichthyological reprint

 Variations in title proper that are not title changes (applies only to monographic series and other serials)

When the series title proper of an earlier or later issue differs from the form used in the heading, give a see reference from the earlier/later form if the difference does not constitute a title change (cf. AACR2 21.2A and LCRI 21.2A). Construct the reference in the form, title or name/title, that would be used as the heading; generally, do not give references that are variations of these references.

130 ≱≱ ‡a Veröffentlichungen des Kölnischen Geschichtsvereins e.V.

430 ♭♭ ‡a Veröffentlichung des Kölnischen Geschichtsvereins e.V.

(later issue had title: Veröffentlichung des Kölnischen Geschichtsvereins e.V.; singular/plural change doesn't require new authority record)

130 bb +a Bulletin (Southern Humanities Conference)

430 岁岁 ‡a Bulletin of the Southern Humanities Conference (later issues had title: Bulletin of the Southern Humanities Conference; same body's name added to or subtracted from end of title doesn't require new authority record)

130 № ‡a Wiley series in psychology of crime, policing, and law

430 bb ‡a Wiley series in the psychology of crime, policing, and law

(later issue had title: Wiley series in the psychology of crime, policing, and law; addition/omission of article doesn't require new authority record)

5) Fluctuating titles

the title.

a) Different languages. If the language of the numbered series title proper on later issues varies according to the language of the text, give a reference from the series title proper in the other language(s). (Cf. LCRI 21.2C.) However, if there are parallel editions in different languages, establish separate headings.

130 № ‡a Taschenbücher zur Musikwissenschaft 430 № ‡a Pocketbooks of musicology

b) Flip-flops. If it is noted retrospectively that a later series title is used on only a few issues, cancel the later series heading in favor of the earlier series heading and give a reference from the different title. (Cf. LCRI 21.2C.)

130 ÞÞ ‡a Title A

430 bb +a Title B

(No. 1-19 have Title A; no. 20-21 have Title B; no. 22- have Title A)

6) Unnumbered series in French, Italian, Portuguese, Spanish, and the Slavic languages

If an introductory word such as "Série," "Collection," and "Edícia" is added to or omitted from the beginning of an *unnumbered* series title in French, Italian, Portuguese, Spanish, and the Slavic languages on another issue, do not consider the different title to be a title change (cf. LCRI 21.2C). Give the other form as a see reference.

130 po †a Seriia "Bibliofil'skie redkosti" 430 po †a Bibliofil'skie redkosti

7) Other situations

a) Substitutions. Use judgment when deciding whether a reference that is a modification of the form used in the heading (spelled out form for an abbreviation, word for symbol, word for numeral, arabic numeral for roman numeral, two words for compound word, initialism without periods for initialism with periods, etc.) is appropriate. Consider whether users might expect that form to have been the established form and whether the substitution would occur in the first five words. Construct the reference in the form, title or name/title, that would be used as the heading; generally, do not give references that are variations of these references.

130 pp +a Mathématiques & applications 430 pp +a Mathématiques et applications

130 bb +a Advances in colour chemistry series
430 bb +a Advances in color chemistry series

130 bb ta Database search aids
430 bb ta Data base search aids

b) Other title information. Give a reference from the other title information when it could be construed as the series title proper or subseries title. When a series title appears in full as well as an initialism on the chief source, give a reference from whichever form is not chosen as the series title proper (cf. AACR2 12.1B2).

130 \$\$0 ‡a Worldly philosophy

430 bb +a Studies at the intersection of philosophy and economics

(Later issue had series subtitle: Studies at the intersection of philosophy and economics)

130 pp †a Österreichische Schriftenreihe zum gewerblichen Rechtsschutz, Urheber- und Medienrecht

430 bb +a ÖSGRUM

c) Title of series/serial.

Give a reference from the name of the main series (in its AACR2 form) and subseries when a subseries is not entered subordinately to the main series (cf. LCRI 1.6H).

130 bb +a De signo
430 bb +a Collana Sapiens. +p De signo
(Subseries De signo is not entered subordinately to the main series; no
source in preliminaries or publisher's listing in item has both main series
title Collana Sapiens and subseries title)

Give a reference from the name of the serial (in its AACR2 form) and title of series when the name of a serial is contained in the series title proper.

130 kk †a Quaderni della Rivista italiana di musicologia
430 kk †a Rivista italiana di musicologia. †p Quaderni
della Rivista italiana di musicologia
(Rivista italiana di musicologia is a separately published serial)

- d) Numbered multipart item: change of title or change in person or body responsible. If the title proper changes (AACR2 21.2B2), give a reference from the later title. If the person or body responsible for the multipart item changes (AACR2 21.3A2), give a name/title proper reference from the later person or body.
- e) Romanization/word division. Give a reference from a form representing another romanization or word division policy.
 - 130 ♭ †a Hsüeh wen pi pei ts'ung shu 430 ♭ ‡a Xue wen bi bei cong shu
 - 130 pp ‡a Jibi inkoka rinsho 430 pp ‡a Jibiinkoka rinsho
- f) Change in non-corporate body parenthetical qualifier. If there is a change in form or fact of a non-corporate body parenthetical qualifier in the series heading, give a reference from the series title proper and the changed qualifier.
- 130 pp †a Wissenschaftliche Reihe (Husum, Schleswig-Holstein, Germany)
 - 430 bb +a Wissenschaftliche Reihe (Nienburg, Germany)
- g) Pre-AACR2 form of heading. Optionally, include information about the pre-AACR2 form of heading in the series authority record. If there is a one-to-one relationship, give a reference from the pre-AACR2 form of heading and code subfield ‡w appropriately. If there is not a one-to-one relationship or if the reference normalizes to the same form as a heading or another reference, give the pre-AACR2 heading information in a note.
 - 130 pp +a Bulletin of the Scripps Institution of
 Oceanography, University of California, San Diego
 410 1p +w nnaa +a California. +b University. +b Scripps
 Institution of Oceanography, La Jolla.
 +t Bulletin
 - 130 bb +a APA private practice series
 - 667 pp †a Includes the old catalog headings: American
 Psychological Association. APA private practice
 series; American Psychological Association.
 A.P.A. private practice series

(made-up example; not a one-to-one relationship: only one heading needed for AACR2 but two headings needed earlier)

- 130 № ‡a Monograph (International Violin, Guitar Makers & Musicians Association)
 - 667 pp ta Previous to AACR2 covered by the heading:
 International Violin, Guitar Makers & Musicians
 Association. Monograph

(made-up example; not a one-to-one relationship: two headings needed for AACR2; other heading: Monograph (Violin, Guitar Makers & Musicians Association); only one heading needed earlier because name change of body was handled via latest entry cataloging)

- 130 🎉 †a Journal of mathematical biology. †p Supplement 667 🎉 †a Old catalog heading: Journal of mathematical biology: supplement
- h) Miscellaneous. Give any other see reference not already mentioned if it is important for access to the heading.

130 pp +a Discussion paper (University of East Anglia. School of Development Studies)

430 bb † a Development studies discussion paper (Cataloger's judgment whether series title should be recorded as Discussion paper or Development studies discussion paper based on presentation; reference given from form not chosen as approach to the heading for someone who would have chosen the other form as series title)

General Guidelines for See Also References

If the earlier or later heading is not represented by its own series authority record, give the earlier or later information in a note instead of giving a see also reference. End such a note with the label "[unevaluated heading]."

130 ♭♭ ‡a Occasional paper (University of Singapore. Dept. of Political Science)

667 \$\mathbb{p}\ \display \text{\figs} a Continues: Singapore (City). University. Dept. of Political Science. Occasional paper series Department of Political Science, University of Singapore [unevaluated heading]

See Also References by Category of Series Authority Record

1) Monographic series and other serials

If a new series authority record is required by AACR2 21.2A, 21.2C, or 21.3B and related LCRIs, connect the series authority records for the earlier and later headings with see also references.

For numbered monographic series, code subfield $\pm w$ to indicate whether the reference is for the earlier or later heading. Generally, do not code subfield $\pm w$ for unnumbered monographic series.

130 bb ta Royal Institute of Philosophy lectures
530 bb tw b ta Royal Institute of Philosophy supplement
(LC MUMS practice for subfield tw = bnnn)

130 数数 ‡a Royal Institute of Philosophy supplement 530 数数 ‡w a ‡a Royal Institute of Philosophy lectures (LC MUMS practice for subfield ‡w = annn)

130 bb +a Weidenfeld psychology series
530 bb +a Weidenfeld modern psychology series
(series is unnumbered: subfield +w is not coded; LC MUMS practice for subfield +w = nnnn)

130 粉笋 ‡a Weidenfeld modern psychology series
530 粉笋 ‡a Weidenfeld psychology series
(series is unnumbered: subfield ‡w is not coded; LC MUMS practice for
subfield ‡w = nnnn)

2) Multipart items

If a new series authority record is needed due to a change in title proper (AACR2 21.2B2) or a change in the person or body responsible (AACR2 21.3A2) for an *unnumbered* multipart item, connect the series authority records for the two headings with see also references. Generally, do not code subfield $\pm w$.

Remember that a change in main entry heading or title of a *numbered* multipart item is handled with a *see* reference (see 7)d) above).

3) Series-like phrases

Any change in a series-like phrase requires a new series authority record. Connect the records with see also references. Generally, do not code subfield $\pm w$.

130 bb +a Aladdin book
530 bb +a Aladdin books
(LC MUMS practice for subfield +w = nnnn)

130 № ‡a Aladdin books
530 № ‡a Aladdin book

(LC MUMS practice for subfield ‡w = nnnn)

26.5B. REFERENCES TO ADDED ENTRIES FOR SERIES AND SERIALS. SERIALS. INEW!

This LCRI represents LC/NACO/CONSER practice.

Rule 26.5B addresses references to a serial used as an added entry. This LCRI covers the different circumstances to be found in a database.

 AACR2 bibliographic record for the serial or series authority record for serial in database.

If an added entry is needed for a serial in another bibliographic record or if the heading for a serial is needed as part of a heading/reference in a name/series authority record, use the heading on the serial's own AACR2 bibliographic record or the series authority record for the serial. Add missing added entries to the bibliographic record or missing references to the series authority record for other corporate bodies related to the serial and for other forms of title of the serial (cf. rules 21.30E and 21.30I; LCRI 26.5A).

 AACR2 bibliographic record for the serial or series authority record for the serial not in database.

If an added entry is needed for a serial in another bibliographic record or if the heading for a serial is needed as part of a heading/reference in a name/series authority record and there is *not* an AACR2 bibliographic record for the serial or a series authority record for the serial, create a name authority record for the serial. Include see references for corporate bodies related to the serial and for different forms of title of the serial.

MUSIC CATALOGING DECISIONS

6.7B10. TYPE OF RECORDING

Do not make the note "Analog recording" or "Digital recording."

Durations

Generally do not give more than six statements of duration in the note area. If durations of more than six works in a collection are available from the item, generally do not give any durations in the note area. More than six durations may be given, however, if in the cataloger's judgment they are especially important.

In a statement of duration in the note area, separate the digits representing hours, minutes, and seconds by colons. If a duration is expressed in seconds only, precede it by a colon.

Duration: 45:00

Durations: 1:25:00; :48; 15:10

Duration: ca. 1:15:00

Durations: ca. 27:00; ca. 17:00

For instructions on the use of "ca." preceding durations in the note area, see LCRI 6.7B10.

Containers

Give a note on the presence of container(s) only when the number of containers is not clear from the rest of the description.

21.30J. ADDED ENTRIES. SPECIFIC RULES. TITLES.

Follow the instructions in LCRI 21.30J in making title added entries for music publications and music sound recordings, disregarding the restriction in rule 21.30J1 (d). *Exception:* For works entered under the heading for a composer, do not make an added entry under a title that is not sufficiently distinctive by itself to be a useful access point (e.g., Piano music; Symphony no. 3 in F major).

For collections without a collective title, follow the instructions in the section "Items Without Collective Title" in LCRI 21.30J, subject to the exception above.

- 245 14 †a Die kleine Kammermusik †h [GMD] ; †b Sonata in A minor ; L'hiver ; Naise ; Napolitana ; Air trompette / †c Telemann.
 - 246 3- ‡a Kleine Kammermusik ; Sonata in A minor ; L'hiver ; Naise ; Napolitana ; Air trompette
- 245 10 †a Flos campi †h [GMD] : †b for viola, voices, and orchestra ; Suite for viola and orchestra / †c Ralph Vaughan Williams.
 - 245 10 ‡a Balorosa soldatesca ; ‡b Gradevole assemblea ; Partite / ‡c J.A. Scheibl ; izbor in redakcija Milko Bizjak.
 - 246 3- †a Balorosa soldatesca ; Gradevole assemblea ; Partite
 - 740 02 ‡a Gradevole assemblea.
 - 245 10 †a Deutsches Te Deum †h [GMD] : †b 1976 : für gemischten Chor und Orgel / †c von Georg Trexler. Aus den "Acht geistlichen Gesängen" : für gemischten Chor, op. 138 / Max Reger. Ein Orgelstück für eine Uhr : Fantasie in f-Moll KV 608 / Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart.
 - 246 1- ‡i Title on container: ‡a Deutsche Te Deum 740 02 ‡a Aus den "Acht geistlichen Gesängen."
 - 740 02 ‡a Orgelstück für eine Uhr.

When a title that is to be traced contains a number, follow the instructions for alternate forms containing numbers in LCRI 21.30J. In addition, when such a title begins with a cardinal number that is not an integral part of the title, make an added entry under the title with the number omitted.

245 10 †a 3 romances sans paroles : †b pour piano, op. 17 / †c par Gabriel Fauré. 246 3- †a Trois romances sans paroles

246 30 ‡a Romances sans paroles

When such a title begins with an ordinal number that is not an integral part of the title, make only one title added entry: under the title with the number omitted.

245 10 †a 3a suite brasileira : †b sobre têmas originais, para piano = 3rd Brazilian suite : about originals [sic] themes / †c Lorenzo · Fernandez.

246 30 ‡a Suite brasileira 246 30 ‡a Brazilian suite

25.25. MUSICAL WORKS. GENERAL RULE.

When the uniform title assigned to a particular manifestation of a musical work is identical (except for the deletion of an initial article) to the title proper of the item, do not include the uniform title in the bibliographic record for the item, even though a name authority record must be generated in order to trace references to the uniform title, unless one or more of the following exceptions applies.

- 1) If the uniform title contains any of the elements prescribed as additions in 25.30-25.32 and 25.35, include the uniform title in the bibliographic record.
- If the uniform title is for one or more parts of a musical work (25.32), include it in the bibliographic record.
- If the uniform title is a collective one (25.34), include it in the bibliographic record.
- 4) If a uniform title is required for a work entered under title and a qualifier must be added to the uniform title to distinguish the work from others with the same title, include the uniform title in the bibliographic records for all manifestations of the work (LCRI 25.5B, "Monographs That Conflict").

Note that an alternative title is part of the title proper (1.1B1). Therefore when the title proper contains an alternative title, the uniform title, which will not include the alternative title (MCD 25.27), will be different from the title proper and must be included in the bibliographic record.

Note also that for collections without a collective title the title proper is the first title in the title and statement of responsibility area, inclusive of part titles and alternative titles but exclusive of parallel titles and other title information (cf. 1,1C2).

26.4B4. COLLECTIONS WITHOUT COLLECTIVE TITLE

For a collection without a collective title entered under a personal name heading with a collective uniform title, make a name-title see reference from the title proper to the uniform title, if no analytic added entry is made for the first work. (If an analytic added entry is made for the first work, sufficient access to the bibliographic record is provided by that analytic added entry and associated references.)

Follow the above instructions also when three or more parts of a single work are published together without an overall title.

Conflicts

When the title proper (or other title being referred from) of a collection of, or selection from, a composer's works is identical with a uniform title that has been used under the heading for that composer in a bibliographic record or name authority record in the catalog, trace the name-title reference from the bibliographic title to the collective uniform title as a "see also" reference.

100 1 † †a Schubert, Franz †t Songs. †k Selections 500 1 † †a Schubert, Franz †t An die Musik (Established uniform title: [An die Musik])

100 1 † †a Boyce, William †t Instrumental music. †k Selections 500 1 † †a Boyce, William †t Concerti grossi

00 1½ †a Boyce, William †t Concerti grossi (Established uniform title: [Concerti grossi])

In all other cases, trace the reference as a "see" reference.

100 1½ †a Ellington, Duke †t Songs. †k Selections 400 1½ †a Ellington, Duke †t Sophisticated lady (Uniform title [Sophisticated lady] not established) 100 1♭ †a Baksa, Robert F. †t Instrumental music. †k Selections

400 1 † †a Baksa, Robert F. †t Chamber music (Uniform title [Chamber music] not established)

When a uniform title is established (i.e., used in a heading in a name authority record or an access point in a bibliographic record) which is identical with the title portion of a name-title "see" reference under the same composer, change the reference to a "see also" reference.

Variant Forms of Collective Titles

 Ampersand. When an ampersand (or other symbol, e.g., +, representing the word and) occurs as one of the first five words filed on in a collective title being referred from, make an additional reference substituting the word and in the language of the title.

100 1 h +a Bloch, Ernest +t Instrumental music. +k
Selections

400 l⊭ ‡a Bloch, Ernest ‡t Gesamtwerk für Violoncello & Orchester

400 lb +a Bloch, Ernest +t Gesamtwerk für Violoncello und Orchester

2) Numbers. When a cardinal number occurs as one of the first five words filed on in a collective title being referred from, make references according to the principles governing the making of added entries set forth in the section on alternate forms containing numbers in LCRI 21.30J. In addition, when a distinctive collective title being referred from begins with a number that is not an integral part of the title, make a reference from the title with the number omitted.

100 1 † a Brahms, Johannes †t Symphonies

400 15 †a Brahms, Johannes †t Vier Symphonien

400 15 ‡a Brahms, Johannes ‡t 4 Symphonien

100 1⅓ ‡a Mozart, Wolfgang Amadeus ‡t Symphonies. ‡k Selections

400 1 † †a Mozart, Wolfgang Amadeus †t Six last symphonies

400 1≱ †a Mozart, Wolfgang Amadeus ‡t 6 last symphonies

400 1 +a Mozart, Wolfgang Amadeus +t Last symphonies

3) Other. If a distinctive collective title being referred from contains data within the first five words filed on for which there could be an alternative form that would be filed differently, make an additional reference from that form if it is thought that some users of the catalog might reasonably search under that form, following the guidelines for title added entries in LCRI 21.30J.

> 100 1≱ †a Bach, Johann Sebastian †t Organ music. †k Selections

> 400 lþ ‡a Bach, Johann Sebastian ‡t Orgelmusik in St. Blasius Münden

400 lþ ‡a Bach, Johann Sebastian ‡t Orgelmusik in Sankt Blasius Münden

SUBJECT CATALOGING

SUBDIVISION SIMPLIFICATION PROGRESS

Since the Subject Subdivisions Conference took place at Airlie House, Virginia, in May 1991, progress continues to be made in simplifying subdivisions in the Library of Congress Subject Headings system. On Weekly Lists 96-01 to 96-15, changes were made in the following areas:

Recommendation #1. Toward achieving the recommended standard order of [topic]—[place]—[chronology]—[form] in LC subject heading strings, new topical subdivisions for which geographic orientation is logical are now established with the designation (May Subd Geog). On a case-by-case basis, subdivisions not previously divided by place are being authorized for geographic subdivision. Thirty-seven subdivisions not previously divided by place, including eleven free-floating subdivisions listed below, were authorized for geographic subdivision during this period.

Recommendation #6. During the first quarter of 1996, progress in simplifying subdivisions was made in the following areas:

1) Cancellation of subdivisions that represent the same or similar concepts in different forms

The subdivision —Consolidation, which had been established under the headings Producer cooperatives, Shipping, Trade-unions, and Transportation, was replaced by the subdivision —Mergers, which is a free-floating subdivision used under types of industries and educational institutions.

The subdivision —Sound motion pictures was cancelled under the heading Copyright in favor of using the existing heading Copyright—Motion pictures.

2) Subdivisions no longer needed

The subdivision —Mechanical aids was cancelled under the headings Composition (Music) and Harmony with no replacement.

Below is a list of the changes to free-floating subdivisions that took place during the first quarter of 1996.

CHANGED OR CANCELLED FREE-FLOATING SUBDIVISIONS WL96-01 - 96-15

Subdivision	List in SCM	Change or replacement
-Carbon content	H 1158	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
-Cobalt content	H 1158	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
—Inclusions	H 1158	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
-Insurance requirements	H 1100	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
-Mergers	H 1151.5	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
	H 1153	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
-Models	H 1095	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
	H 1195	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
-Models-Radio control	H 1195	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
—Processing	H 1147	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
	H 1180	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
—Seeds—Processing	H 1180	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
-Technological innovations	H 1095	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
•	H 1147	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
	H 1153	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
	H 1180	ADD: (May Subd Geog)

	4	
—Transportation	H 1095	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
•	H 1100	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
	H 1103	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
	H 1147	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
	H 1158	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
	H 1180	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
	H 1195	ADD: (May Subd Geog)
	H 1200	ADD: (May Subd Geng)

SUBJECT HEADINGS OF CURRENT INTEREST

Weekly Lists 5-17, 1996

Abused teenagers (May Subd Geog) Alien abduction (May Subd Geog) Anti-environmentalism (May Subd Geog) Bikinis (May Subd Geog) Birding sites (May Subd Geog) Camping with dogs (May Subd Geog) Challenged books (May Subd Geog) Computer sex (May Subd Geog) Confidence and security building measures (International relations) (May Subd Geog) Crime scenes (May Subd Geog)
First day of school (May Subd Geog) Food writing (May Subd Geog) Gazebos (May Subd Geog) Global environmental change Grazing (Television) (May Subd Geog) Group of Seven countries Haiti-History-American intervention, 1994-1995 Heather gardens (May Subd Geog) Hiking with dogs (May Subd Geog) Human-alien encounters (May Subd Geog) Industrial ecology (May Subd Geog) Integrated delivery of health care (May Subd Geog) Integrated solid waste management (May Subd Geog) Land mines (May Subd Geog) Manic-depressive persons (May Subd Geog) Marital conflict (May Subd Geog) Mass burials (May Subd Geog) Metadata (May Subd Geog) Metadatabases (May Subd Geog) Motels-Pet accommodations (May Subd Geog) Muslim families (May Subd Geog) Neo-Nazis (May Subd Geog) Neo-Nazism (May Subd Geog) Police internal investigation (May Subd Geog) Presidential aircraft (May Subd Geog) Presidential automobiles (May Subd Geog) Presidential Medal of Freedom Privatization in education (May Subd Geog) Proms (May Subd Geog) Rich people (May Subd Geog) Scheduling (May Subd Geog) School crossing guards (May Subd Geog) Sexual dominance and submission (May Subd Geog) Skinheads (May Subd Geog) Suburbanites (May Subd Geog) Superbikes (May Subd Geog) Tall people (May Subd Geog) Television program genres (May Subd Geog) Vegan cookery (May Subd Geog) Veganism (May Subd Geog) Wetland mitigation banking (May Subd Geog)

Year 2000 date conversion (Computer systems) (May Subd Geog)

Zapping (Television) (May Subd Geog) Zipping (Video recordings) (May Subd Geog) Zones of peace (May Subd Geog)

REVISED LC SUBJECT HEADINGS

The list below comprises headings that were changed or cancelled on weekly lists 1-15, 1996.

		May
Cancelled Heading	Replacement Heading	Subd Geog
Allegheny Reservoir (N.Y. and Pa.)	Allegheny Reservoir (Pa. and N.Y.)	NO
Alpenhorn	Alphorn	YES
Alpenhorn and organ music	Alphorn and organ music	NO
Alpenhorn music	Alphorn music	NO
Alpha globulin	Alpha globulins	YES
Altenburg (Weimar, Germany)	Altenburg (Weimar, Thuringia, Germany)	NO
Amicicide (Military science)	Friendly fire (Military science)	YES
Anonyms and pseudonyms, Langue d'oc	Anonyms and pseudonyms, Occitan	YES
Authority files (Cataloging)	Authority files (Information retrieval)	YES
Authors, Langue d'oc	Authors, Occitan	YES
Bakundu language		YES
Balaenopteridae		YES
Balese language	Lese language	YES
Banen language	Tunen language	YES
Beaver River (Utah and Nev.)	Beaver River (Utah)	NO
Beaver River Watershed (Utah and Nev.)	Beaver River Watershed (Utah)	NO
Benet-Mercié machine-gun		NO
Border collies	Border collie	YES
Bratas	Vratas	YES
Breda machine-gun		NO
Bren machine-gun	Bren machine gun	NO
Browning machine-gun	Browning machine gun	NO
Camará River (Marajó Island, Brazil)	Camará River (Pará, Brazil)	NO
Canada—Social conditions—1971-	[프로마시] 경기 설명 하는 것 보다는 사람들이 되었다면 하는 사람들이 되었다면 하는 사람들이 되었다면 하는 것이다.	NO
Canada—Social conditions—1971-	Canada—Social conditions—1991-	
Capulin Mountain National Monument (N.M.)	Capulin Volcano National Monument (N.M.)	NO
Cardinal-birds	Cardinals (Birds)	YES
Central America—History—1951-	Central America—History—1951-1979	
Central America—History—1951-	Central America—History—1979-	NO
Central America—Politics and government—1951-	Central America—Politics and government—1951-1979	NO
Central America—Politics and government—1951-	government—1979-	NO
Chicle-gum	Chicle	YES
Chicle gum industry		YES
Children's plays, Langue d'oc	Children's plays, Occitan	YES
Children's writings, Langue d'oc	Children's writings, Occitan	YES
Christianity and reincarnation		NO
Cirsium arvense Collies		YES
		YES
Colt automatic machine-gun Composition (Music)—Mechanical		NO NO
aids		
Connerheads		YES
Copperheads Copyright—Sound motion pictures		YES
Coronary care units, Mobile		YES

Criminal justice personnel— Malpractice	Tort liability of criminal justice personnel	YES
Cross references (Cataloging) Death Valley National Monument (Calif. and Nev.)	Cross references (Information retrieval) Death Valley National Park (Calif. and Nev.)	YES NO
Degas, Edgar, 1834-1917. Attente	Degas, Edgar, 1834-1917. Waiting	NO
Degtiarev machine-gun	Degtiarev machine gun	NO
Dreyse machine-gun	Dreyse machine gun	NO
Eakins, Thomas, 1844-1916. Swimming hole	Eakins, Thomas, 1844-1916. Swimming	NO
Elaphe guttata	Corn snake	YES
Experimental theater—New York (N.Y.)	Experimental theater—New York (State)—New York	
Fennecs	Fennec	YES
Fiat machine-gun	Fiat machine gun	NO
Filbert Filbert	Hazel Hazelnuts	YES
Filbert industry	Hazelnut industry	YES
Folk drama, Langue d'oc	Folk drama, Occitan	YES
Folk songs, Langue d'oc	Folk songs, Occitan	YES
Fungi, Nematode-destroying	Nematode-destroying fungi	YES
Fungi, Predatory	Predacious fungi	YES
Galerus	Galeri	YES
Gardner machine-gun	Gardner machine gun	NO
Garonne River Valley (France and (Spain)	Garonne River Valley (Spain and France)	NO
Garrotxa (Spain)	Garrotxa Region (Spain)	NO
Georgia, Strait of (B.C.)	Georgia, Strait of (B.C. and Wash.)	NO
Globulin	Globulins	YES
Goethe-Schiller-Denkmal (Weimar, Germany)	Goethe-Schiller-Denkmal (Weimar, Thuringia, Germany)	NO
Goriunov machine-gun	Goriunov machine gun	NO
Gumbáingar language	Kumbainggar language	YES
Haptoglobin	Haptoglobins	YES
Harmony—Mechanical aids	Harmony Headgear	NO YES
Head-gear—Religious aspects	Headgear—Religious aspects	NO
Henley Royal Regatta (England)	Henley Royal Regatta, Henley-on-Thames, England	NO
Herodium	Herodium (West Bank)	NO
Hoko River Site (Wash.)	Hoko River Sites (Wash.)	NO
Hospitals, Mobile	Mobile hospitals	YES
Hotchkiss machine-gun	Hotchkiss machine gun	NO
Huang-ti (Legendary ruler)	Huang-ti (Legendary character)	NO
Il Parmigianino, 1503-1540— Portraits	Parmigianino, 1503-1440—Portraits	NO
Il Parmigianino, 1503-1540. Self-portrait in a convex mirror	Parmigianino, 1503-1440. Self-portrait in a convex mirror	NO
Intensive care units, Mobile	Mobile intensive care units	YES
Ireland—History—Sinn Fein Rebellion, 1916	Ireland—History—Easter Rising, 1916	NO
Ireland—History—Sinn Fein Rebellion, 1916—Atrocities	Ireland—History—Easter Rising, 1916— Atrocities	NO
Ireland—History—Sinn Fein Rebellion, 1916—Juvenile literature	Ireland—History—Easter Rising, 1916— Juvenile literature	NO
Johnson light machine-gun	Johnson light machine gun	NO
Kalashnikov machine-gun	Kalashnikov machine gun	NO
Khabur River	Khabur River (Turkey and Syria)	NO
Khabur River Watershed	Khabur River Watershed (Turkey and Syria)	NO
Kincheloe family	Kinsella family	NO
Kipawa Lake (Québec)	Kipawa Lake (Témiscamingue, Québec)	NO
La Croix, Lac (Minn. and Ont.)	Lac La Croix (Minn. and Ont.) Occitan language	NO YES
Langue d'oc drama	Occitan drama	YES
Langue u oc urania	Occident drama	1100

Langue d'oc imprints	Occitan imprints	YES
Langue d'oc literature	Occitan literature	YES
Langue d'oc philology	Occitan philology	YES
Langue d'oc poetry	Occitan poetry	YES
Langue d'oc prose literatture	Occitan prose literature	YES
Lewis machine-gun	Lewis machine gun	NO
Libraries and families	Libraries—Services to families	YES
M60 machine-gun	M60 machine gun	NO
Machine-gun drill and tactics	Machine gun drill and tactics	YES
Machine-guns	Machine guns	YES
Manic-depressive psychoses	Manic-depressive illness	YES
Manic-depressive psychoses in adolescence	Manic-depressive illness in adolescence	YES
Manic-depressive psychoses in children	Manic-depressive illness in children	YES
al-Mawsilī family	Mawsilī family	NO
Mayors—Dwellings—New York (N.Y.)	Mayors—Dwellings—New York (State)— New York	
Mayors-New York (N.Y.)	Mayors-New York (State)-New York	
Menteith, Lake (Scotland)	Menteith, Lake of (Scotland)	NO
Mentha	Mints (Plants)	YES
Mitrailleuses	Machine guns	YES
Monasteries, Cistercian	Cistercian monasteries	YES
Monasteries, Dominican	Dominican monasteries	YES
Monasteries, Franciscan	Franciscan monasteries	YES
Morioris	Moriori (New Zealand people)	YES
Morioris—Antiquities	Moriori (New Zealand people)— Antiquities	NO
Names, Langue d'oc	Names, Occitan	YES
Nordenfelt machine-gun	Nordenfelt machine gun	NO
Off-shore whaling	Offshore whaling	YES
Oiseau River (Ont. and Man.)	Bird River (Ont. and Man.)	NO
Palazzo Pianetti (Iesi, Italy)	Palazzo Pianetti (Jesi, Italy)	NO
Parc naturel régional des Ballons de Vosges (France)	Parc naturel régional des Ballons des Vosges (France)	NO
Pastoral drama, Langue d'oc	Pastoral drama, Occitan	YES
Pectinidae, Fossil	Scallops, Fossil	YES
Pentax camera	Pentax cameras	NO
Pinguicula	Butterworts	YES
Poets, Langue d'oc	Poets, Occitan	YES
Police—Malpractice	Tort liability of police	YES
Polish spaces	Polish spaces (Mathematics)	NO
Producer cooperatives— Consolidation	Producer cooperatives—Mergers	YES
Proverbs, Langue d'oc	Proverbs, Occitan	YES
Public libraries—Services to infants	Libraries—Services to infants	YES
Public libraries—Services to preschool children	Libraries—Services to preschool children	YES
Public libraries—Services to toddlers	Libraries—Services to toddlers	YES
Railroads—Consolidation	Railroads—Mergers	YES
Railroads, Narrow-gage	Narrow gauge railroads	YES
Railroads, Narrow-gage—Great Britain	Narrow gauge railroads—Great Britain	
Railroads, Narrow-gage—Ireland	Narrow gauge railroads—Ireland	
Railroads, Narrow-gage—Sweden Railroads, Narrow-gage—	Narrow gauge railroads—Sweden Narrow gauge railroads—Switzerland	
Switzerland Railroads, Narrow-gage—United States	Narrow gauge railroads—United States	
Rana pipiens	Northern leopard frog	YES
Rape—Law and legislation	Rape	YES
Reincarnation (Buddhism)	Reincarnation—Buddhism	NO
Remington rifle	Remington rifles	NO
Research ethics	Research—Moral and ethical aspects	YES

Rochester Bridge (Rochester, England)	Rochester Bridge (Rochester, Kent, England)	NO
Safety-lamp	Safety lamps	YES
Sarajevo (Bosnia and Hercegovina)— History—Siege, 1992-	Sarajevo (Bosnia and Hercegovina)— History—Siege, 1992-1996	NO
Scheduling (Management)	Production scheduling	YES
Schizomidae	Hubbardiidae	YES
Sentence completion test	Sentence Completion Test	YES
Series, Dirichlet	Dirichlet series	NO
Shipping—Consolidation	Shipping—Mergers	YES
Songs, Langue d'oc	Songs, Occitan	YES
Stock exchanges—New York (N.Y.)	Stock exchanges—New York (State)— New York	
Tariff on filberts	Tariff on hazelnuts	YES
Theater—New York (N.Y.)	Theater-New York (State)-New York	
Thomas D. Lambros Federal Building (Youngstown, Ohio)	Thomas D. Lambros Federal Building and United States Courthouse (Youngstown, Ohio)	NO
Toolshed	Toolsheds	YES
Toy pistols	Toy guns	YES
Trade-unions—Consolidation	Trade-unions—Mergers	YES
Transportation—Consolidation	Transportation—Mergers	YES
Traveler's checks	Travelers' checks	YES
United States—Politics and government—Civil War, 1861- 1865	United States—Politics and government— 1861-1865	NO
United States. Army—Machine-gun drill and tactics	United States. Army—Machine gun drill and tactics	NO
Vejovidae	Vaejovidae	YES
Vejovis	Vaejovis	YES
Vickers machine-gun	Vickers machine gun	NO
Vrata	Vratas	YES
al-Witri family	Witri family	NO
Wood-tar	Wood tar	YES
Worlds of Fun (Kansas City, Mo.)	Midwest Worlds of Fun (Kansas City, Mo.)	NO

SUBJECT HEADINGS REPLACED BY NAME HEADINGS

Cancelled Subject Heading

Replacement Name Heading

Project Nimbus Secular Franciscans Whitefish Lake Indian Reservation No. 6 (Ont.) Nimbus Project (U.S.) Secular Franciscan Order Whitefish Lake Indian Reserve, No. 6 (Ont.)

AC SUBJECT HEADINGS

In May the complete retrospective file of approximately 900 Annotated Card Program Subject Headings (AC headings) was converted to machine readable form and distributed on tape to MARC Distribution Service subscribers. The AC records reside in the subject authorities application and can be identified in the following ways: "sj" precedes the LCCN for each approved AC heading and "spj" for proposed new or changed AC headings; fixed field 008/11 is encoded with the value "b"; and for LC internal users, each AC heading contains a 952 field that reads ANNOTATED CARD PROGRAM SUBJECT HEADING that appears before the 1XX fiield. New AC headings and transactions to existing ones began to appear on the weekly lists of approved new and changed subject headings posted to LC Marvel in June.

PUBLICATIONS

CLASSIFICATION PLUS

Classification Plus is a Windows-based, CD-ROM product containing the full text of Library of Congress Classification schedules and Library of Congress Subject Headings (LCSH). The first issue includes seven classification schedules (E-F, H, J, L, R, T, and Z) as well as the complete LCSH current through December 1995. Other schedules will be added as they become available. Each quarter subscribers receive an updated version of all publications in the product and any new classification schedules published that quarter.

Classification Plus uses the same Folio software found on Cataloger's Desktop. Users can follow hypertext links within and between files, view headings in an expandable hierarchical display, and construct complex queries. Classification Plus is LAN-friendly and can be copied from the CD-ROM onto a server.

The single-user base subscription price for four cumulative issues is \$410 in North America and \$415 outside North America. Each additional user is \$16. A discount is offered if both Classification Plus and Cataloger's Desktop are purchased.

A demonstration version of *Classification Plus* and *Cataloger's Desktop* is available through the Internet. Use Internet's anonymous FTP function to connect to ftp.loc.gov (user name: anonymous; password: your email address). Change to directory pub/cds/deskclas and download all files in the directory. Print the WordPerfect file cdinfo.wp5 for further instructions.

To order, or to request the demonstration version on CD-ROM, contact: Library of Congress, Cataloging Distribution Service, Customer Services Section, Washington, D.C. 20541-5017. Tel: 1-800-255-3666 (U.S. only) or 202-707-6100; Fax: 202-707-1334; E-mail: cdsinfo@mail.loc.gov

DAILY FTP FOR MARC DISTRIBUTION SERVICE "BOOKS ALL" FILE

The Cataloging Distribution Service has just introduced a daily Internet FTP pick-up option for the MARC Distribution Service (MDS) "Books All" file. For an additional \$3,000 a year, bibliographic utilities, commercial vendors, and libraries subscribing to the MDS Complete or MDS Books All service have the option of picking up the latest LC "Books All" records daily through Internet file transfer. Subscribers may switch from the current weekly frequency to the daily option at any point during the subscription year. A technical information packet and order form are available from LC's Cataloging Distribution Service (see above).

NEW EDITIONS OF LC CLASSIFICATION SCHEDULES

New editions (1995) of the following Library of Congress Classification schedules are available from the Cataloging Distribution Service: E-F (History: America) \$36 in North America/\$46 outside North America; J (Political Science) \$34 in North America/\$39 outside North America; L (Education) \$34 in North America/\$39 outside North America; R (Medicine) \$34 in North America/\$35 outside North America; T (Technology) \$36 North America/\$46 outside North America; and Z (Bibliography and Library Science) \$34 in North America/\$39 outside North America. To order, see above.